# 安小雅 雅思口语素材

# 第三套 Part2 (简单版串联) 适合学生党及上班族使用

#### 关于素材使用方法和答疑

客服的微信提供素材售后服务,有疑问都可以在微信上询问哦!在微信通讯录搜:安小雅。即可找到客服~

店主开通的福利微信公众号: 安小雅

公众号会在每场考试后发布考试答案回忆,还有最新考试资讯,雅思技巧等等福利哦!

#### 口语题库适用范围

口语题库全球一致,各个国家地区都一样。适用于笔试,机考,UKVI和 IELTS Online。

#### 雅思考官一对一

我们跟多位 10 年以上经验的资深雅思考官合作,提供口语/写作一对一私教服务,教学内容可自定义。 行业金字塔尖师资水平,有意请联系微信客服。

#### 串联版 Part2 目录以及使用说明

串联版 Part2 指的是一篇范文回答多个话题。具体分类看看以下目录就知道了。

但是有些话题问的方向不一样,如果用同一篇范文来回答的话会有跑题嫌疑。所以有些串联的话题我们还是写了 2-3 篇范文,根据问题的问法稍作了一些修改。但是大体上的内容和思路都是一致的<sup>~</sup>

翻译里标黄的部分是与其他文章相同的句子,共用的。

#### 如果我觉得素材有错怎么办?

我们的素材都是经过店主和外教一起编写和检查过的哦! 您可以放心!

其实外国人在生活中有一些常用的口头上的表达,看起来很奇怪但实际并没有错的,国内老师也不会懂这些。所以呀! 如果你觉得素材有错,我们是非常欢迎您来询问我们滴!千万不要觉得不好意思哦!下面举两个例子:

"Anna is two years my elder." 安娜比我大两岁。"She is four months my younger" 她比我小四个月。

这是一种比较现代的说法,当然我们平时都会讲"Anna is two years older than me"和"She is four months younger than me."但其实外国人都会用前者多一些的。

"the majority of the girls were content discussing about how handsome or how affluent their boyfriends were." 女孩子们都在热烈地讨论他们的男朋友有多帅。

这是现代英语的另一个特征,就是外国人在口头上都常常会省略掉介词。这里就把 were content with discussing 的 with 去掉了。这在口语上是完全没问题的,但大家在写作中就尽量要避免哦。

## 目录

(一)万宁旅游	5
01-02:感兴趣的地方(新题)&美丽的城市(新题)	8
<b>03</b> : 想去的遥远之地	9
04-05: 逛公园(新题)& 等待美好事情(新题)	10
<b>06-07:</b> 喜欢的照片(新题)& 一幅画(新题)	12
08-09:刺激的活动(新题)& 感到累的活动(新题)	14
10: 聚会(新题)	15
<b>11-12:</b> 得到错误信息的时刻 & 迷路	16
13-14: 想尝试的冒险 & 想尝试的水上运动	17
<b>15:</b> 印象深刻的汽车旅行	
(二) 有趣的舍友	
<b>16-17:</b> 想法有趣的人(新题)& 有趣的邻居	
<b>18:</b> 喜欢烹饪的人(新题)	21
<b>19:</b> 乐于助人的人	22
20: 最近搬家的人	23
(三) 打羽毛球	
21: 给他人建议(新题)	24
<b>22:</b> 做重要决定的时刻	25
<b>23:</b> 爱看的体育运动	26
24: 玩过的游戏	27
(四)自媒体博主	
25-26:成功的经营者(新题)&成功的同学(新题)	
27: 感兴趣的工作	
(五)网红潇潇	
28-29:中文很好的外国人(新题)&想了解的有趣陌生人(新题)	
(六)电脑售后差	
<b>30-31</b> : 糟糕服务(新题)& 电脑出问题(新题)	
(七) 高考	
32-33: 改变人生的时期(新题)& 困难任务(新题)	

(八)苏炳添	
<b>34-35</b> : 钦佩的运动员(新题)& 受欢迎的人	
(九) 三国演义	
36-37:感兴趣的历史时期(新题) & 多次阅读的书籍	
38: 公开发言的时刻	
(十) 放烟花	
39-40: 和小孩相处的时刻 & 印象深刻的儿时经历	
<b>41</b> : 喜欢的传统庆祝活动	40
(十一)零食店	
<b>42-43:</b> 新开的商店 & 人山人海之地	
(十二)存钱买 AJ	
44-45: 昂贵的礼物 & 喜欢穿的衣服	
(十三)智能家居	
<b>46-47:</b> 有用的发明 & 理想之家	45
单独话题	
48: 重要规定(新题)	47
<b>49:</b> 有益的广告(新题)	48
50: 感兴趣的科学领域(新题)	
51: 最近令你失望的电影	

## (一) 万宁旅游

这是我们的核心大素材,讲述核心就是去了一个小众的海边城市万宁旅游。

无论问到什么类型的题目,你都往这上面套用。地点可以替换为其他你所了解的小众城市,反正你说一 个中国人都很少知道的地方,考官就更不知道了,然后你吹得天花乱坠都没关系~

这样的好处就是,学生们可以用一个思路应对足够多的话题。在时间有限的情况下,这样就能尽可能多 地覆盖更多的话题。避免在 Part2 没话说,跟考官大眼瞪小眼。

但这样也有弊端,因为毕竟是模板套用,会略显得僵硬以及废话略多。如果准备时间有半个月以上的话, 建议看其他几套 Part2 的答案。

事件类的话题,你就说在旅游期间发生的事,比如堵车,错过约定,出海旅游等等

- 人物类的话题,你就说在旅游中遇见的导游,或者当地的人,酒店的老板等等
- 物品类的话题,你就说在旅游中买的礼物,纪念品

地点类的话题,你就直接说这一个小众海边城市。

下面就是具体的串联方式介绍:

#### <u>开头万能段:</u>

I would like to talk about ..... During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. Wanning is a small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

我想说一下我旅游时发生的事情(遇见的人、买到的物品……回应主题)。去年暑假的时候,我和我的 男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。万宁是一个海边小城市,风景秀美,没有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一 个美好的假期。

#### 中间论述段:

论述段不必用一个完整的故事论述,你要做的就是针对每一个小问题,回答 1-2 句话。 因为我们 Part2 的小问题是跟考试问的一模一样,所以这部分是可以提前准备的。 下面打一个比方:

#### 《美丽的物品》

Describe an object that you think is very beautiful.

Some instructions you can follow:

What the object is

Where you first saw the object

What it looks like

And explain how you feel about this beautiful object.

(1) What the object is

在这次旅行中,我的男朋友给我买了一条美丽的项链。

#### (2) What it looks like

这是一条由很多小贝壳串成的项链。每个小贝壳的颜色形状都不一样,这使得它非常与众不同。

(3) Where you first saw the object

这是我们一起去一家当地的纪念品店买东西的时候看见的。从我看见的第一眼,我就喜欢上了它。我男 朋友也很有眼色,立刻就买下来给我。

#### (4) And explain how you feel about this beautiful object.

我觉得这条项链非常适合在海边度假时佩戴。带上这条项链,还有太阳帽,太阳镜,碎花裙子,我感觉 我就像美人鱼公主一样。男朋友给我拍的每一张照片都非常美丽。虽然这条项链只需要几十块钱,但我 觉得它真的很好看。

#### <u>结尾万能段1(赞美):</u>

In a nutshell, it was a fantastic trip. I not only ....., but also enjoyed the stunning sea view and participated in the incredible water activities on offer in the city. I would travel there again if I ever have the chance.

这一趟旅行真是太棒了,我不仅……(回应主题),还欣赏到了这里绝美的海景和参加了新奇的水上活动。有机会的话我还会再来一次。

#### 结尾万能段2(转折):

In a nutshell, it was a wonderful trip. Although ....., I not only tasted some delicious seafood, but also enjoyed the stunning sea view and participated in the incredible water activities on offer in the city. I would travel there again if I ever have the chance.

总的来说,这是一趟美好的旅程。虽然 ·········(回应主题),但我不仅品尝到了美味的海鲜,还欣赏到 了这里绝美的海景和参加了新奇的水上活动。有机会的话我还会再来一次。

#### 完整范文:

I would like to talk about the necklace which my boyfriend bought me. During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. Wanning is a small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

During this trip, my boyfriend bought me a beautiful necklace. It was a special item made of many small shells different in color and shape. We found it when we were shopping at a local souvenir store. For me, it was "love at first sight", and, right on cue, my boyfriend bought it for me without hesitation.

I found the accessory perfect for our holiday at the seaside. With my new necklace, sun hat, sunglasses and floral skirt, I felt like a mermaid princess and looked good in every photo my boyfriend took. It may have been cheap, but in my eyes, it was absolutely beautiful.

In a nutshell, it was a fantastic trip. I not only received a pretty necklace, but also enjoyed the stunning sea view and participated in the incredible water activities on offer in the city. I would travel there again if I ever have the chance.

<mark>我想说一下</mark>我男朋友送给我的一条项链。<mark>去年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。万宁是</mark> 一个海边小城市,风景秀美,没有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。

在这次旅行中,我的男朋友给我买了一条美丽的项链。这是一条由很多小贝壳串成的项链。每个小贝壳 的颜色形状都不一样,这使得它非常与众不同。这是我们一起去一家当地的纪念品店买东西的时候看见 的。从我看见的第一眼,我就喜欢上了它。我男朋友也很有眼色,立刻就买下来给我。

我觉得这条项链非常适合在海边度假时佩戴。带上这条项链,还有太阳帽,太阳镜,碎花裙子,我感觉 我就像美人鱼公主一样。男朋友给我拍的每一张照片都非常好看。虽然这条项链只需要几十块钱,但我 觉得它真的很好看。

<mark>这一趟旅行真是太棒了,我不仅</mark>收到了一条美丽的项链<mark>,还欣赏到了这里绝美的海景和参加了新奇的水</mark> 上活动。有机会的话我还会再来一次。

#### 01-02: 感兴趣的地方(新题) & 美丽的城市(新题)

Describe the part of your country that you find most	Describe a city which you think is beautiful.
interesting.	You should say:
You should say:	where the city is
where it is	how you know it
how you know about it	what it is famous for
what people can see and do there	and explain why you think this city is beautiful.
and explain why you find it most interesting.	

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. Wanning is an interesting small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

It was a happy accident that I got to know the town in the first place. I was visiting Xiaohongshu, a lifestyle platform popular with the young, when I came across a post promoting tourism in Wanning. Needless to say, I was immediately drawn to the spot by its enchanting island scenery.

There aren't many tourists in this seaside town since it is not particularly well known. But it is actually a nice little tourist destination with stunning beaches and breathtaking views that can rival those of Sanya, a tourism mecca. There is a long stretch of seaside park in Wanning, which is where a whole lot of exciting and interesting water sports take place, like parasailing, surfing, and banana boating. If you happen to be someone looking for a wonderful place to enjoy the sunset, the park should definitely be your first choice for the broad expanse of the sea, crystal blue water, and rows of exotic palm trees. People can walk on the beach at sunset, look for shells and take some photos. And if you were to get tired, you could have a meal at the local seafood stall.

Wanning is an interesting and very beautiful city, I have recommended it to many of my friends.

中文思路:

去年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。万宁是一个有趣的海边小城市,风景秀美,没有 熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。

之所以我会知道这里,是因为之前我偶然地在小红书上看到一个推荐万宁旅游的帖子。帖子里晒出了很 多美丽的海岛风景,让我对这个地方产生了兴趣。

万宁不是一个著名的旅游景点,这里的游客并不多。但它的海滩和自然风光一点也不输著名的三亚。万 宁有一个长长的海滨公园。海滨公园里有很多刺激有趣的水上项目,比如拖曳伞、冲浪和香蕉船等等。 同时这里也是一个观赏日落的绝佳地方,因为这里有着宽阔的海面、湛蓝的海水和错落有致的棕榈树。 人们可以一起在夕阳下漫步海边,可以沿着沙滩寻找各种贝壳,迎着夕阳拍照片。逛累了可以去当地的 海鲜大排档吃饭。

万宁是一个有趣好玩而且非常美丽的城市,我已经给我把它推荐给我的众多朋友了。

#### 03: 想去的遥远之地

Describe a place which is far away that you would like to visit in the future. You should say: Where it is How you would travel there What you would do there And explain why you would really like to visit this place.

I want to pay a visit to Wanning which is far away from my city. It is located in Hainan province in southern China. Not long ago, I came across a post promoting tourism in Wanning. Needless to say, I was immediately drawn to the spot by its enchanting island scenery.

If I have a chance to travel to Wanning, I definitely will take a plane to Wanning because it's just too far away from my hometown. I wish to go with my boyfriend. We can walk on the beach at sunset, look for shells and take some photos. If we get tired, we can have a meal at a local seafood stall.

As far as I know, Wanning is not particularly well known so there aren't many tourists in this seaside town. But it would actually make for a nice little tourist destination with stunning beaches and breathtaking views that can rival those of Sanya; a tourism mecca. As everyone knows, it is hard for people to enjoy a tourist attraction, however spectacular it is, when it is packed with people.

Wanning is a small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. That is the reason why I want to visit there. Copyright by Anxiaoya.

中文思路:

我想去的一个遥远的城市是海南万宁。万宁坐落在海南省,中国的南端。<mark>之前我偶然地网上看到推荐万</mark> <mark>宁旅游的帖子。帖子里晒出了很多美丽的海岛风景,让我对这个地方产生了兴趣。</mark>

如果我以后有机会万宁旅游的话,我肯定会选择坐飞机去万宁,因为它离我家乡实在太远了。我希望跟 我的男朋友一起去。这样的话,我们<mark>可以一起在夕阳下漫步海边,可以沿着沙滩寻找各种贝壳,迎着夕</mark> 阳拍照片。逛累了可以去当地的海鲜大排档吃饭。

<mark>据我所知,万宁不是一个著名的旅游景点,这里的游客并不多。但它的海滩和自然风光一点也不输著名</mark> <mark>的三亚。</mark>所以这是一个非常适合旅游的海边城市。你要知道,当游客过多的时候,无论这个地方的风景 有多壮观,人们都不会感到愉悦。

万宁是一个海边小城市,风景秀美,没有熙攘的人群,这就是我想去那里旅游的原因。

## 04-05: 逛公园(新题) & 等待美好事情(新题)

Describe a time when you enjoyed visiting a park or	Describe a time when you had to wait a long time for
a garden.	something nice to happen.
You should say:	You should say:
where it was	what you were waiting for
when you went there	how long you waited
why you visited there	why you had to wait
what it looked like	and explain how you felt when the nice thing finally
	happened.

#### 《逛公园》

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. We saw a very stunning sunset at the seaside park there. It was a happy accident that I got to know the seaside park in the first place. I was visiting Xiaohongshu, a lifestyle platform popular with the young, when I came across a post promoting tourism in Wanning. Needless to say, I was immediately drawn to the spot by its enchanting sunset scenery.

This seaside park neighbors the city center and very much resembles an expansive scenic spot, with souvenir shops and bars lined along the shore, and an elongated promenade by the beach.

I remember we visited the park one afternoon. Since it was still early by the time we got there, we simply took a casual stroll on the beach, hunting for sea shells. As we grew tired, we stopped for a rest, laying down on lounge chairs, chatting and taking photos. More than an hour had passed when the sun finally began to set. I had never seen such a stunning sunset view before. The scarlet sun sprinkled its rays across the sky and turned it purplish red, as the waves raced to hit the shore. The breathtaking scenery we haphazardly captured with our cameras were instant masterpieces.

The sunset was definitely the highlight of our trip to the park. We might have lost some hours waiting for the sunset, but it was completely worth it when the sunset greeted us at last.

中文思路:

去年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游,我们在那里的海滨公园看到了非常美丽的日落。 之所以我来这里旅游,是因为之前我偶然地在小红书上看到一个关于万宁旅游的帖子。帖子里晒出了很 多美丽的海边日落美景,让我对这个地方产生了兴趣。

这个海滨公园就坐落离市区不远的地方。公园非常大,像是一个大型旅游景点一样。岸上有很多纪念品 商铺和酒吧,沙滩上有一条长长的步道。

我记得我们是下午去的海滨公园。到公园时还比较早,远没到日落的时候。于是我们就漫无目的地在沙 滩上散步,沿着沙滩寻找各种贝壳,累了就躺在沙滩椅上聊天拍照。等了大概一个多小时,我们终于迎 来了日落。我从来没见过这么美丽的日落,红红的太阳把天空照的紫红紫红的,宽阔的海面上泛着阵阵 的海浪,这一切美的让我窒息。在这样美丽的风景下,我们随手一拍就是大片。

<mark>去海滨公园看日落是这趟旅行中最令人兴奋的一环,虽然我们等了很久才看到日落,但这一切都是值得</mark> 的。

#### 《等待美好事情》

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. We saw a very stunning sunset at the seaside park there. It was a happy accident that I got to know the seaside park in the first place. I was visiting Xiaohongshu, a lifestyle platform popular with the young, when I came across a post promoting tourism in Wanning. Needless to say, I was immediately drawn to the spot by its enchanting sunset scenery.

I remember we visited the park one afternoon. Since it was still early by the time we got there, we simply took a casual stroll on the beach, hunting for sea shells. As we grew tired, we stopped for a rest, laying down on lounge chairs, chatting and taking photos. We had so much fun on the beach going through what could otherwise be a very boring wait for the sunset. More than an hour had passed when the sun finally began to set. I had never seen such a stunning sunset view before. The scarlet sun sprinkled its rays across the sky and turned it purplish red, as the waves raced to hit the shore. The breathtaking scenery we haphazardly captured with our cameras were instant masterpieces and attracted likes on social media like magnets. The posts were showered in likes and attention from my classmates.

The sunset was definitely the highlight of our trip to the park. We might have lost some hours waiting for the sunset, but it was completely worth it when the sunset greeted us at last.

中文思路:

去年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游,我们在那里的海滨公园看到了非常美丽的日落。 之所以我来这里旅游,是因为之前我偶然地在小红书上看到一个关于万宁旅游的帖子。帖子里晒出了很 多美丽的海边日落美景,让我对这个地方产生了兴趣。

我记得我们是下午去的海滨公园。到公园时还比较早,远没到日落的时候。于是我们就漫无目的地在沙 滩上散步,沿着沙滩寻找各种贝壳,累了就躺在沙滩椅上聊天拍照。 我们在沙滩上玩得很开心,所以在 等待日落的过程中我们并没有感到无聊。等了大概一个多小时,我们终于迎来了日落。我从来没见过这 么美丽的日落,红红的太阳把天空照的紫红紫红的,宽阔的海面上泛着阵阵的海浪,这一切美的让我窒 息。在这样美丽的风景下,我们随手一拍就是大片。</mark>我把我们拍的照片发到社交媒体上,我的同学都纷 纷给我点赞。

<mark>去海滨公园看日落是这趟旅行中最令人兴奋的一环,虽然我们等了很久才看到日落,但这一切都是值得</mark> 的。

## 06-07: 喜欢的照片(新题) & 一幅画(新题)

Describe a photo you have kept that makes you feel	Describe a painting or drawing you enjoy looking at.
happy.	You should say:
You should say:	when and where you first saw it
what it shows	what it was about
when and where the photo was taken	what you know about the person who create it
how often you look at it	And explain why you enjoy looking at it.
and explain why this photo makes you feel happy.	

#### 《喜欢的照片》

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. We saw a very stunning sunset at the seaside park there. We took a very beautiful photo which I have kept till now.

We took this photo just before dusk by the beach. In this photo, there is white sand, a red sunset, blue water, and more importantly, me and my boyfriend wearing happy smiles on our faces. Happy with this really good photo, we immediately set it as the wallpaper of our cell phones. In this way, whenever we use our phones, we can see this beautiful and meaningful photo. Copyright by Anxiaoya.

The photo is meaningful and makes me happy because it records the first trip my boyfriend and I had together. Wanning is an interesting small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there. Also, despite having known each other for two years, we never had the chance to travel together due to the pandemic and our busy schoolwork. This summer holiday, we finally saved up enough money to travel together. Our happiness was beyond words. We took a lot of pictures on the road, but none of them looked as good as this one. That's why we like this one in particular.

<mark>今年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。我们在那里的海滨公园看到了非常美丽的日落,</mark> 我们拍了一张非常美丽的合照。

我们是在傍晚时分在海滩边上拍的照片。这张照片里有洁白的沙滩,有红彤彤的落日,有湛蓝的海水, 更重要的是还有洋溢着幸福笑容的我和我男朋友。这张照片照的非常好,我和我男朋友都很满意。当即 我们就把这张照片设为我们手机的背景。这样子的话我们每次打开手机都能看到这张美丽的且有意义的 照片。

之所以这是一张有意义的令我开心的照片,这是因为这趟旅程是我和我男朋友第一次出来旅游。万宁是 一个有趣的海边小城市,风景秀美,没有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。而且,我们 已经认识两年了,但之前由于疫情和繁忙的学业,我们一直没有机会出来玩。今年暑假我们终于攒够钱 一起旅游,别提有多高兴了。我们在路上拍了很多照片,但都没有这一张好看。所以我们特别喜欢这张 照片。

#### 《一幅画》

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. We spent money to have a cartoonist create a very interesting cartoon drawing for us.

I remember it was a little before dusk we rode our bikes to a very famous local seaside park to watch the sunset. By the beach, we noticed an unknown cartoonist, whom we met for the first time. There were many drawings hung around her, and they were all good and funny. So, we asked her to draw one for us. After observing us carefully for a short while, she started drawing and soon completed it.

In this drawing, there is white sand, a red sunset, blue water, and more importantly, me and my boyfriend wearing happy smiles on our faces. It was a caricature instead of a realistic drawing. Our heads were exceptionally large yet did not seem weird. The scenery behind us was depicted with simple coloured lines.

The drawing looks interesting and lovable, and we like it very much. We took lots of photos on the way, but none of them looked as good as this one. When we got back, I bought a small frame, framed the caricature and put it on the wall in my dormitory. My roommates all praised it when they saw it.

<mark>今年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。我们在当地花钱让一个漫画画家给我们画了一幅</mark> 非常有趣的卡通画。

我记得那时候正是傍晚,我们骑车去了当地很有名的海滨公园看日落。我们发现沙滩边上有一个卡通漫 画的画家。我们不认识她,这只是我们第一次见。但她挂了很多她的作品在身边,我们都觉得她画得很 好很有趣。于是我们决定让她也给我们画一幅。她仔细地观察了我们一阵子然后就开始画,不久她就画 好了。

<mark>画里有洁白的沙滩,有红彤彤的落日,有湛蓝的海水,更重要的是还有洋溢着幸福笑容的我和我男朋友。</mark> 这不是一幅写实的画,而是漫画风格的。我们的头显得非常巨大,但一点都不显得违和。背后的风景都 用简单的彩色线条描绘出来。

整幅画看着非常有趣可爱,我们非常喜欢。我们在路上拍了很多照片,但都没有这张画好看。回去之后 我专门买了个小画框把这幅画裱起来钉在我的宿舍墙上,好看极了。我的舍友看到也纷纷称赞它。

## 08-09: 刺激的活动(新题) & 感到累的活动(新题)

Describe a time when you did an exciting activity	Describe a time when you felt tired after doing an
with other people,	activity.
You should say:	You should say:
what the activity was	what activity you did
where you did this activity	when and where you did this activity
why you did this activity	why you did the activity
and explain how you felt about it.	and explain why you felt tired after doing this
	activity.

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. Wanning is an interesting small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

We joined in a scuba diving activity during the trip. Scuba diving is where you swim while wearing a wet suit connected to an oxygen tank which allows you to breathe underwater. Therefore, you can swim underwater for long durations of time in order to explore the ocean floor. Compared with snorkeling, scuba diving allows one to dive into the deeper sea and see more submarine views, such as more diversified fish and marine life. That's why We joined in this activity.

On that day, we put on professional equipment and had an unforgettable experience diving under the guidance of a professional coach. The sun shone through the water to the bottom of the sea, and everything in the sea looked so clear. Under the sea, we saw patches of colourful coral dancing with the water flow and small fish swimming back and forth around us. I even saw a few baby sharks!

A: It was a cheerful and exciting experience to do scuba diving. I saw loads of beautiful fish to watch and swim with, as well as magnificent coral reefs. It also allowed me to explore swimming in a way I had never done before. It is a brilliant experience and I want to join in again in the future.

B: But I have to admit, diving is an exhausting activity. I was quite relaxed underwater, but as soon as I stepped ashore, I felt like my whole body had collapsed!

去年暑假的时候,我和我的男朋友去了海南万宁旅游。万宁是一个有趣的海边小城市,风景秀美,没有 熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。

在万宁旅游的时候,我们参加了当地的水肺潜水项目。水肺潜水是你穿着潜水衣游泳,上面连着氧气罐, 它可以让你在水下呼吸。这样你就可以在水下呆很长的时间去探索海底。我想尝试水肺潜水的原因是水 肺潜水能下潜到比较深的海底,比浮潜能看到更多的海底景观,比如更多种类的鱼和更多的海洋生物。

潜水的那天,我们穿上了专业的设备,在专业教练的指导下进行了一次难忘的潜水体验。阳光透过水面 照射到海底,让海里的一切都清晰可见。我们在水下看到了成片的随水流摆动的彩色珊瑚,还有很多围 着我们游来游去的小鱼。我甚至还看到了几条小鲨鱼!

(A: 刺激的活动)这次的潜水经历真的太令人兴奋了,我看到了五颜六色的鱼和华丽的珊瑚。它让我 <mark>以一种从未有过的方式来探索海洋</mark>,这真的太棒了,我以后还会继续参加水肺潜水活动的。

(B: 感到累的活动)。但不得不说,潜水真的是一项极度消耗体力的活动。在水下的时候我还觉得很轻松,但当我一走上岸,我就感觉整个人都虚脱了!

## 10: 聚会(新题)

Describe a time when you went to a party that you enjoyed. You should say: when and where the party was held what/who the party was for what you did at the party and explain why you enjoyed it.

During my last summer holiday, my boyfriend and I went to Wanning for a vacation. Wanning is an interesting small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

During the trip, we lived in a B&B at the seaside and threw an exciting barbecue party there. I can still remember it clearly to this day. The party was mainly for us to relax and celebrate our upcoming graduation. The owner of the B&B provided us with a site on the top floor and tools for barbeque, and we bought lots of fresh seafood and vegetables in the local market beforehand. When the party started, we began barbecuing, which filled the air with the aroma of various foods. Sitting in the night breeze intertwined with the sound of waves, we shared stories and jokes and talked about our dreams happily.

I did enjoy the barbecue party because all those there were my best friends. The party made me so happy and relaxed because it was full of laughter, food and friendship. As our graduation was near, it was possible that we might work in different cities and never have the chance to organise such a trip again. This party was a great experience of friendship and nature. It has become a precious memory for me.

中文思路

去年暑假的时候,我和几个同学一起去了海南万宁旅游。万宁是一个有趣的海边小城市,风景秀美,没 有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。旅游时我们入住了一个海边的民宿,在民宿里我们 举办了一次令人兴奋的烧烤派对,我至今印象深刻。淘宝:安小 雅。

这次派对的主要目的是放松和庆祝我们即将毕业。民宿老板在顶楼为我们提供了烧烤的场地和工具,我 们提前去当地的市场买了很多新鲜的海鲜和蔬菜。派对开始后,我们开始烧烤,将各种食材烤得香气四 溢。我们围坐在一起感受着夜晚微风和海浪声的交织,分享故事和笑话,畅谈梦想。

我非常享受这次的烧烤派对,因为参加的都是我最好的朋友。这个派对充满了欢笑、美食和友情,让我 感到无比愉快和放松。我们行将毕业,毕业后我们可能就会去不同城市发展,之后可能再也没有机会举 办这样的旅行。这次派对让我深刻体验到友情和自然的美好,成为我回忆中的一段珍贵记忆。

## 11-12: 得到错误信息的时刻 & 迷路

Describe an occasion when you got some incorrect	Describe a time when you lost your way.
information	You should say:
You should say:	When it was
When it was	Where you went
Where you got the information	How you got lost
How you found out that the information was not	And explain what happened after you lost your way.
correct	
And explain what happened when you found out that	
the information was not correct.	

I would like to talk about the experience of getting lost when I went on a vacation in Wanning. During my last summer holiday, my girlfriend and I went to Wanning for a holiday. Wanning is a small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful time there.

On our second day in Wanning, we planned to eat at a restaurant that is quite popular online. We used the Meituan app to check the route in advance since it was our first time visiting it. According to the app, it was only a half-hour walk from our hotel.

However, we couldn't find the restaurant when we arrived at the designated location. We found that the location given by the Meituan app was completely incorrect! It led us to another restaurant with a similar name. Even worse, it brought us to a filthy alleyway where we couldn't tell the direction clearly.

I remember that we were hungry, tired, and angry at that time. However, we had no choice but to calm ourselves down and continue looking for the restaurant. After repeatedly confirming the location using multiple other apps, we walked another half hour and arrived at the restaurant. It was quite a lesson for us. In the future, it would be best to always use multiple apps and repeatedly confirm the location of the destination beforehand when going to a strange, new place.

中文思路:

<mark>我想说一下我在万宁旅游</mark>时迷路(得到错误信息)的经历。<mark>去年暑假的时候,我和我的女朋友去了海南</mark> 万宁旅游。万宁是一个海边小城市,风景秀美,没有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个美好的假期。

在我们到达万宁的第二天,我们准备去一家著名的网红餐厅吃饭。因为我们是第一次去这家餐厅,所以 我们提前使用美团 APP 查询路线。根据它的指示,我们从酒店出发步行半小时即可到达。

但是,我们到达了地图上指定的地点后却没找到那家餐厅。根据美团 app 里的网友晒图,我们发现餐厅 的定位完全是错误的!它把我们指引去了另一家名字相似的餐厅。更糟糕的是,为我们来到了一个杂乱 的小巷子里,完全分不清方向。

我记得那时候我们又饿又累,非常生气。但无可奈何,只能收拾心情重新找路。在使用其他多个软件反复确认后,我们又花费了半个多小时才步行到达那家餐厅。这对我们来说是一个教训,以后在前往某个 陌生地方前,最好使用多个 APP,反复确认目的地的位置。

#### 13-14: 想尝试的冒险 & 想尝试的水上运动

Describe an exciting adventure you would like to go	Describe a water sport you would like to try in the
on.	future.
You should say:	You should say:
Who you would go with	What it is
Where you would go	Where you would try it
What you would do on the adventure	Is it easy or difficult to do
And explain why you would like to go on this	And explain why you would like to try this water
adventure.	sport.

#### 《想尝试的冒险》

An adventure I am very keen to try in the future is scuba diving. Scuba diving is where you swim while wearing a wet suit connected to an oxygen tank which allows you to breathe underwater. Therefore, you can swim underwater for long durations of time in order to explore the ocean floor.

I would like to go on this adventure with my girlfriend since she's also shown much interest in it. Sanya is a wonderful place for diving as the tropical waters are warm and the entire island is surrounded by coral reefs; therefore, there are loads of beautiful fish to watch and swim with. Actually, I have never tried scuba diving. Luckily, there are highly trained scuba instructors in Sanya so there will be someone there to teach me and keep me safe.

The reason why I have always wanted to try scuba diving is I find ocean life extremely interesting. I think there is such a vast and beautiful array of life that can be found in the oceans. I am really excited to see bright and colourful fish as well as magnificent coral reefs. Currently, due to the effects of climate change, a lot of coral life is at risk, so I think it is important to see it while I still can. Furthermore, I have always had a passion for swimming, and scuba diving will allow me to explore swimming in a way I have never done before. Overall, scuba diving is a very unique and thrilling activity. I want to try such an exciting adventure while I am young.

中文思路:

我很想尝试的冒险是深潜。水肺潜水是你穿着潜水衣游泳,上面连着氧气罐,它可以让你在水下呼吸。 这样你就可以在水下呆很长的时间去探索海底。

我想和我的女朋友一起参加这次冒险,因为她对潜水也非常感兴趣。<mark>三亚是一个潜水的好地方,因为热</mark> 带水域是温暖的,整个岛屿被珊瑚礁包围,因此有很多漂亮的鱼和你一起游泳。事实上我以前从未尝试 过深潜,幸运的是,三亚有训练有素的潜水教练可以教我</mark>和保障我的安全。

我一直想尝试水肺潜水的原因是因为我发现海洋非常有趣。海洋中可以找到广阔而美丽的生命。我很高 兴可以看到五彩缤纷的鱼和华丽的珊瑚礁。目前,由于气候变化的影响,很多珊瑚处于危险之中,所以 我认为趁我还能看到的时候去看看很重要。此外,我一直对游泳充满热情,水肺潜水可以让我以一种从 未有过的方式探索游泳。总的来说,水肺潜水是一项非常独特和令人兴奋的活动。 我很希望在年轻的时 候多尝试这样令人兴奋的冒险。

#### 《想尝试的水上运动》

A water sport I am very keen to try in the future is scuba diving. Scuba diving is where you swim while wearing a wet suit connected to an oxygen tank which allows you to breathe underwater. Therefore, you can swim underwater for long durations of time in order to explore the ocean floor. I would like to try this in Sanya. It is a wonderful place for diving as the tropical waters are warm and the entire island is surrounded by coral reefs; therefore, there are loads of beautiful fish to watch and swim with. However, I am worried because scuba diving is a difficult activity so I will have a lot to learn. Luckily, there are highly trained scuba instructors in Sanya so there will be someone there to teach me.

The reason why I have always wanted to try scuba diving is I find ocean life extremely interesting. I think there is such a vast and beautiful array of life that can be found in the oceans. I am really excited to see bright and colourful fish as well as magnificent coral reefs. Currently, due to the effects of climate change, a lot of coral life is at risk, so I think it is important to see it while I still can. Furthermore, I have always had a passion for swimming, and scuba diving will allow me to explore swimming in a way I have never done before. Overall, scuba diving is a very unique and thrilling water sport, one which I am excited to try in the future.

中文思路:

我很想尝试的水上运动是深潜。水肺潜水是你穿着潜水衣游泳,上面连着氧气罐,它可以让你在水下呼 吸。这样你就可以在水下呆很长的时间去探索海底。我想在三亚试试这项活动。这是一个潜水的好地方, 因为热带水域是温暖的,整个岛屿被珊瑚礁包围,因此有很多漂亮的鱼和你一起游泳。 然而我很担心, 因为水肺潜水是一项困难的活动,我有很多东西需要学习。 幸运的是,三亚有训练有素的潜水教练教可 以教我。

我一直想尝试水肺潜水的原因是因为我发现海洋非常有趣。海洋中可以找到广阔而美丽的生命。我很高 兴可以看到五彩缤纷的鱼和华丽的珊瑚礁。目前,由于气候变化的影响,很多珊瑚处于危险之中,所以 我认为趁我还能看到的时候去看看很重要。此外,我一直对游泳充满热情,水肺潜水可以让我以一种从 未有过的方式探索游泳。总的来说,水肺潜水是一项非常独特和令人兴奋的水上运动, 我很希望在未来 可以尝试。

## 15: 印象深刻的汽车旅行

Describe a car journey you made that you remember well. You should say: When it was Who was with you How long the journey took and explain why you remember this car journey so well.

I would like to talk about the experience of a car journey in which several classmates and I rented a car and traveled in Wanning. Wanning is a small seaside city with beautiful scenery and no bustling crowds. We had a wonderful 5-day holiday there.

Not long ago, I came across a post promoting tourism in Wanning. Needless to say, I was immediately drawn to the spot by its enchanting island scenery. As far as I know, Wanning is not particularly well known so there aren't many tourists in this seaside town. So, all of us agreed that going on a trip to Waning on National Day holiday was a good idea. We chose to rent a car in Wanning because it was far more convenient and cheaper since we were four people and had lots of luggage.

It was a very impressive and memorable trip for us. For one, Wanning has stunning beaches and breathtaking views that can rival those of Sanya; a tourism mecca. For another, it didn't become overcrowded even if it was during the National Day holiday. As everyone knows, it is hard for people to enjoy a tourist attraction, however spectacular it is, when it is packed with people. What's more, we enjoyed the beautiful seaside scenery all the way and exchanged gossip freely in our car during the trip. This was an unforgettable experience for us since we are about to graduate and go to different cities.

我想说一下我去年国庆,我和几个同学正在万宁租车旅行的经历。<mark>万宁是一个海边小城市,风景秀美,</mark> <mark>没有熙攘的人群,我们在那里度过了一个 5 天美好的假期。</mark>

之前我偶然地网上看到推荐万宁旅游的帖子。帖子里晒出了很多美丽的海岛风景,让我对这个地方产生 了兴趣。据我所知,万宁不是一个著名的旅游景点,这里的游客并不多。</mark>所以,我们都认为在国庆假期 来万宁是一个避开人潮的好选择。之所以我们选择租车旅行,是因为我们有四个人,行李也很多,租车 会比较方便以及经济实惠。

这次假期让我们印象深刻。一方面是因为即便是国庆假期,这里的游客并不多。但它的海滩和自然风光 一点也不输著名的三亚。所以这是一个非常适合旅游的海边城市。你要知道,当游客过多的时候,无论 这个地方的风景有多壮观,人们都不会感到愉悦。</mark>还有就是,我们一路上边欣赏海边秀丽的景色,边在 车里畅所欲言地聊天。这对于即将毕业各奔东西的我们来说是一次难忘的体验。

# (二) 有趣的舍友

## 16-17: 想法有趣的人 (新题) & 有趣的邻居

Describe a person who always has interesting ideas	Describe an interesting neighbor.
and opinions.	You should say:
You should say:	What do he/she do
who this person is	How you met this neighbor
how you knew this person	How often you see this neighbor
what kind of ideas he/she has	And explain why you think this neighbor is
and explain why you think this person's ideas and	interesting.
opinions are interesting.	

I feel that I have to talk about my friend Arya, who is an interesting person. In addition, she has also made my life more enjoyable.

Arya is one of my classmates who lives next to my dorm. I've known her ever since we started school. She is a cheerful girl who always actively greets me when we meet in the corridor. We see each other every day since we often take classes together. The reason I find her so much fun is that she does not toe the line - she always has some novel ideas and puts them into action.

For example, she recently bought a set of mahjong, one of the most popular leisure games in China, and invited me to play with her. When my roommates and I still played mahjong on cellphones, she bought a set of real Mahjong and even a foldable mahjong table. Ever since then, Arya's dorm has become the most cheerful place on the floor. Arya would invite girls in the dorm to play at 7 every evening. Over time, everybody came to enjoy going there to play mahjong. Every time I pass by her door, I would hear the cheerful voices of mahjong players.

Apart from that, she is passionate about food and drama series, and often recommends some of the best snack stores and shows to me. Being with her is always an enjoyable experience full of pleasant surprises.

中文思路:

我必须要谈谈我的朋友 Arya,她是个有趣的人。同时,她也让我的生活变得更加有趣。

Arya 是我的同班同学,<mark>住在我的隔壁宿舍。刚开学的时候我就认识她了,她很开朗,每次在楼道遇见,</mark> <mark>他都会主动给我打招呼</mark>。我们经常一起上课,所以每天都会见面。我之所以觉得她有趣,是因为她不是 一个循规蹈矩的人,她总会有一些新奇的想法,并且会马上付诸行动。

麻将是中国人最喜欢的休闲游戏之一,最近她买了一副麻将。并且经常叫我过去一起玩。当我和我的舍 友还在用手机玩麻将游戏的时候,她买了一副真实的麻将,甚至还买了一个可折叠的麻将桌。自此以后, anna 的宿舍成为了整层楼最热闹的地方。每天晚上7点,Anna 就会准时在宿舍号召周围的同学过来打 麻将。久而久之,大家都喜欢去她们宿舍玩麻将。每当我从她门口经过,都会听到里面传来麻将的声音。

除此之外,她还热爱美食和看连续剧,她经常会向我推荐一些好吃的小吃店和好看的电视剧。跟她在一起总是充满了快乐和惊喜。

## 18: 喜欢烹饪的人 (新题)

Describe a person who enjoys cooking for others. You should say: who he/she is how you knew this person who he/she usually cooks for and explain why you think he/she enjoys cooking for other people.

I feel that I have to talk about my friend Arya, who is a very kind person who enjoys cooking. We first met as I laboured with my cumbersome suitcase arriving to my dormitory on the first day of college. When I opened the room door, I saw Arya gazing at me with a smile. She noticed that I had a lot of luggage and came over at once to aid me. Arya is a fantastic roommate, and everyone else in the dormitory really likes her.

She enjoys cooking and bought an induction cooker to cook hotpots in the dormitory. On normal days, she often cooked some easy meals for herself and us, like instant noodles with ham and sausage. On days for celebrating, such as public holidays or the end of the final exam, she would buy a lot of ingredients in the food market and come back to make hotpot with us. She likes cooking because she can control the flavour of the dishes by doing it herself, and since she only cooks convenient and simple dishes, it does not take much time.

She treats each of us sincerely and is often willing to cook for us. Apart from that, she is passionate about food and drama series, and often recommends some of the best snack stores and shows to me. To have met Arya, and become close friends with her, is the finest achievement of my college life.

中文思路:

我必须要谈谈我的舍友 Arya。</mark>她是个非常善良,喜欢烹饪的人。<mark>我们第一次见面是开学的第一天,我拖</mark> 着沉重的行李箱来到宿舍,当我推开门就看到 Arya 笑盈盈的看着我。看到我的行李很多,她立刻过来 帮我搬行李箱。Arya 是一位很棒的舍友,宿舍里其他人都很喜欢她。

她喜欢烹饪,专门在宿舍买了一个电磁炉用来做饭和打火锅。平时她经常会给自己和我们做一些简易的 饭,比如火腿肠煮方便面。在值得庆祝的日子里,比如公众假日或者期末考试结束时,她会去菜市场买 很多材料回来跟我们一起打火锅。之所以她喜欢烹饪,是因为她认为自己烹饪可以自由掌握饭菜的口味, 而且她只会做一些方便和简单的菜,这并不会耗费很多时间。

她用真诚对待宿舍里每一个人,所以她非常愿意给我们烹饪。除此之外,她还热爱发现美食和看连续剧, 她经常会向我推荐一些好吃的小吃店和好看的电视剧。能遇到她并且和她成为好朋友,是我大学里最大 的收获。

## 19: 乐于助人的人

Describe someone who lives in your area who often helps other people. You should say: Who this person is How this person helps others How important the help is And explain why you think this person often help other people.

I feel that I have to talk about my friend Arya, who is a very kind and helpful person. We first met as I laboured with my cumbersome suitcase arriving to my dormitory on the first day of college. When I opened the room door, I saw Arya gazing at me with a smile. She noticed that I had a lot of luggage and came over at once to aid me. Arya is a fantastic roommate, and everyone else in the dormitory really likes her.

Arya was a perfect roommate. If I was ever in trouble, she was always there. Until I met Arya's parents, I was always curious about what made her so warm and cheerful. Her parents and her personality were one of the same. They are both courteous and very warm-hearted. I believe it must be a family of great kindness, to raise such a fine child. Although her help was mostly in small matters, it made me feel like I was cared for just like a member of the family within the group. I believe this is very important. As I spent more time with her, I noticed that I became more cheerful and enthusiastic myself.

I admire my roommate Arya very much. She brings a wealth of happiness and laughter to our dormitory. She treats each of us sincerely and often bends over backwards to help us. To have met Arya, and become close friends with her, is the finest achievement of my college life. Copy right by An xiao ya.

中文思路:

我必须要谈谈我的舍友 Arya。她是个非常善良和乐于助人的人。我很开心能在读书期间能认识她。我们 第一次见面是开学的第一天,我拖着沉重的行李箱来到宿舍,当我推开门就看到 Arya 笑盈盈的看着我。 看到我的行李很多,她立刻过来帮我搬行李箱。进入宿舍我发现他已经把所有人的桌子擦干净了。

Arya 是一位很棒的舍友。当我遇到困难的时候,他从来不吝啬自己的帮助。我一直很好奇是什么让她如此热情和开朗,直到我见到了 Arya 的父母。她父母和她的性格简直一模一样,两个人都彬彬有礼,并 且非常的热心。我想一定是非常温暖的家庭,才能培养出这样的孩子吧。她的帮助虽然都是一些小事, 但让我在集体中感受到了家人一样的关心。我认为这很重要。和她相处的时间久了,我发觉自己也变得 开朗和热情起来。

我非常欣赏我的室友 Arya,她给我们宿舍带来了非常多的快乐。<mark>她用真诚对待我们每一个人,经常不厌</mark> <mark>其烦的帮助我们。能遇到她并且和她成为好朋友,是我大学里最大的收获。</mark>

## 20: 最近搬家的人

Describe someone you know who has recently moved into his/her own accommodation You should say: Who this person is Why this person moved into this accommodation What kind of accommodation this person moved to And explain whether you think this move was a positive change for this person.

I met a new friend, Aya, several months ago. Aya initially majored in mathematics but transferred to finance this semester. Then, she moved into the dormitory next door, and we became neighbors. She is a cheerful girl who always actively greets me when we meet in the corridor.

Her dormitory shares the same layout as mine. It accommodates four students and four loft beds with desks and wardrobes sitting in the four corners of the room. Each dormitory is equipped with an independent balcony where the bathroom can be found.

I think the dormitory change has affected her in a positive way. Aya had told me that she is not good at mathematics, and it is painful for her to learn. Since she transferred to finance, she has always been in a good state and gets along well with all her classmates. Recently she bought a real set of Mahjong and even a foldable mahjong table. Ever since then, Aya's dorm has become the most cheerful place on the floor. She invites girls all over the dorm to play at 7 every evening. Over time, everybody has come to enjoy going to Aya's to play mahjong. Every time I pass by her door, I hear the cheerful voices of mahjong players. Apparently, she leads a happy and cheerful life now.

中文思路:

几个月前,我认识了一个新朋友,她叫 Aya。Aya 本来是数学专业的,但因为这个学期她申请换成跟我 一样的金融学专业,所以她就换到了我隔壁的宿舍。我们成为了邻居。她是个非常开朗的人。每次在 楼道遇见,她都会主动给我打招呼。

她的宿舍跟我宿舍一模一样,是个四人间。房间的四个角落分布着四张架子床,床在上面,下面是书 桌和衣柜。每间宿舍都会有个独立的小阳台,阳台上有洗手间和浴室。

我认为搬宿舍对她来说是一个积极的改变, ava 曾经告诉我她并不擅长数学,学数学对她来说非常痛苦。自她把专业换成了她喜欢的金融学,她整个人都变得阳光起来。她搬进来后很快就跟附近的同学打成一片。最近她买了一副麻将和一个可折叠的麻将桌,并且经常叫我过去一起玩。自此以后,Aya的宿舍成为了整层楼最热闹的地方。每天晚上7点,Aya 就会准时在宿舍号召周围的同学过来打麻将。每当我从她门口经过,都会听到里面传来麻将的声音。显然,Aya 现在的生活非常充实和开心。

# (三) 打羽毛球

## 21: 给他人建议(新题)

Describe a time when you gave a piece of advice to someone. You should say: who you gave advice to what it was how this person reacted to the advice and explain whether you feel you gave this person the right advice.

Recently my best friend Lucy confided in me that she had discovered herself to be 5 kilograms heavier than before! She was aware that I had successfully lost weight last year, she inquired as to whether I could give her a hand. To which I responded of course I could! So, we discussed the situation and then established an objective to lose 5 kilograms in three months. In order to attain this accomplishment, I encouraged her to take part in some exercise every day, such as playing badminton, and, moreover, she should simultaneously adjust her diet.

Compared to many sports, playing badminton is a very healthy and undemanding kind of sport. Due to the fact that badminton is an immensely popular sport in China, it is very easy to find locations to play badminton and people to compete against. Furthermore, badminton is also not a very physically demanding sport. Thus, it is an uncomplicated way for her to exercise without risk of overexerting or injuring herself.

Lucy came to the decision to play badminton three times a week, preferably after school during the week. Proper exercise at the conclusion of a hectic day of study can be very relaxing and enjoyable. At the same time, I also advised her to make proper dietary adjustments to aid her in her weight loss, such as eating fewer late-night snacks and junk food. Otherwise, all her exercise will be in vain ! Lucy is now on a strict regime of working out and dieting, the result of which is she has lost some weight so far. Therefore, she is truly grateful that I can assist her.

#### 中文思路:

前不久我的好朋友 lucy 告诉我她发现自己长胖了将近 5kg,这真是一个让人沮丧的消息。因为我在去年曾经成功减肥,所以他希望我能帮助她。对此我非常乐意!所以,我们讨论了一下,给她设定了一个目标,希望她能在 3 个月内减重 5kg。为了实现这个目标,我建议她每天都做一些运动,比如打羽毛球,同时她要调整饮食。

在众多的运动项目中,打羽毛球则是一项非常好的运动。因为它在中国很受欢迎,因此很容易跟朋友找 到地方一起打羽毛球。此外,羽毛球也不是一项对身体要求很高的运动。这意味着,这是一个人们更容 易进行锻炼的方式,而没有过度劳累或伤害自己的风险。

Lucy 决定以后一周去打三次羽毛球,最好是在周内放学后。在结束了一天忙碌的学习后进行适当的运动将会是非常令人放松且愉快的。于此同时,我也建议她进行适当的饮食调整来帮忙减肥,例如少吃宵夜和零食。不然她的运动都白费了!Lucy目前正在坚持运动和节食,目前已经减了一些体重了。因此她非常感激我能帮助她。

#### 22: 做重要决定的时刻

Describe a time when you had to make an important decision. You should say: What decision you had to make How you made the decision Why this decision was important And explain whether you think it was a right decision.

Last year, I made an important decision to play badminton 2-3 times a week in order to lose weight.

My roommate Anna is a big fan of badminton and she plays it every week. She has often invited me to join her, but I've always refused. Last year, I decided to join Anna's badminton club. I consider it to be an important decision because trying out sports is a significant change for me.

I haven't really taken any interest in sports since I was a child. I prefer to listen to music or do some reading in my room. Even though I'm in college now and have more free time, I don't get much exercise because I'm generally lazy. At the same time, I also enjoy all kinds of junk foods and bubble teas. In fact, I've found that I've put on a lot of weight, and even walking upstairs leaves me out of breath. So, I decided to start exercising.

Since I started playing badminton, I have become a more active person. Whenever I feel tired or lack enthusiasm, a simple 30-minute workout helps me to feel more energetic. I am able to keep in a good mental state every day. I believe joining the badminton club was a really good decision since playing badminton frequently not only helped me lose some weight, but also made me more self-confident and attractive.

中文思路:

去年我做出了一个重要的决定,那就是我下定决心要开始减肥了,我决定每周打两到三次羽毛球。事实 上我的舍友 anna 是个羽毛球迷,他每周都会在固定的时间打羽毛球。她曾经很多次邀请我一起去,但 我都拒绝了。这次,我经过一番纠结,决定加入 anna 的羽毛球社团。这个决定是很重要的,尝试运动对 我来说是一项重大的改变。淘 宝:安小 雅。

我从小就不太喜欢运动,我更喜欢呆在房间里听音乐或者看书。虽然我现在上了大学,相对于高中,我 有了很多自由的时间。但因为懒惰,我还是很少运动。而且我喜欢吃垃圾食品和喝高热量的奶茶。事实 上,我发现我比以前胖了许多,而且上楼都会喘气了。所以我现在想开始做一些运动来保持健康了。

<mark>自从我开始打羽毛球后,我整个人都变得更有活力了。每当我感到疲倦或缺乏激情时,只要 30 分钟的</mark> 简单运动就能使我恢复活力。我现在每天都能保持一个良好的精神状态。</mark>我认为加入羽毛球社是一项非 常正确的决定,运动不仅让我减轻了体重,也让我我变得更自信,更有魅力了!

#### 23: 爱看的体育运动

Describe a sport that you enjoy watching. You should say: What it is Who you usually watch this sport with Where and when you first watched this sport And explain why you enjoy watching this sport.

Badminton matches are my favorite sports TV programs. I can still remember the days when I watched it with my family as a child. Both my grandmother and mother are big fans of badminton. I'm pretty sure that it must have been at my home when I first watched a badminton game, as watching it at dinner time has become something of a ritual in my family, though I can't remember exactly how old I was back then.

Watching badminton is one of my favourite childhood memories with my family, so even after growing up, I would occasionally search for national teams' matches online and watch them on my own. I know some schoolmates who share my passion for this sport and it's always brilliant to chat with them about it. Unfortunately, there aren't many opportunities for us to gather for game-watching activities as we all have our own business to attend to.

Badminton is an adrenaline-pumping spectator sport. I always enjoy watching these events, especially those that our national teams attend. I never miss a badminton match at the Olympics. In some of the games, the two sides can be so equally matched that the outcome would usually be decided by whoever muffed first. The most thrilling moment is when a winner was finally declared, and I would always cheer for a magnificent smash. That's the best part of badminton for me.

中文思路:

<mark>羽毛球比赛是我喜欢看的体育运动之</mark>一。在我很小的时候,就经常和家里人一起看这项比赛。因为我奶奶和妈妈是疯狂的羽毛球迷。我第一次看羽毛球赛肯定是在家里,因为小时候,我们家吃饭时的必看节 目就是羽毛球赛。但我已经记不清我几岁第一次看了。

小时候我经常跟家里人一起看羽毛球,长大了之后,我偶尔会自己上网看国家队的比赛。我也认识几个 跟我一样喜欢羽毛球的同学,时常会跟他们聊起羽毛球。但在学校里大家聚在一起看球赛的机会不多, 因为大家都有各自要忙的事情。

羽毛球是一项非常刺激和具有观赏性的体育运动,我非常喜欢看羽毛球比赛,尤其是我们国家队的比赛。 每当奥运会的时候,每一场羽毛球比赛我都不会错过。一些关键性的比赛往往会非常胶着,大家拼的就 是谁先犯错。决出胜负的那一刻是非常令人激动的。我每次看球都会为那些精彩的瞬间大声喝彩。这就 是我喜欢看羽毛球的原因

## 24: 玩过的游戏

Describe a game you enjoyed playing when you were younger. You should say: What it was Where you played it Who you played this game with And explain why you enjoyed playing this game.

During my childhood, my favourite game to play was badminton. Both my grandmother and mother are big fans of badminton, so they taught me how to play badminton when I was little.

Badminton is a well-liked sport in China. In my middle school days, I got to know a couple of fellow students who shared my passion for the sport. Every day after school, I would grab my racket and hurry over to a badminton court open to the public near my house. My moments of greatest joy were always when I played badminton with my friends. There were also days I would enjoy playing it with my parents. It was a good for us to bond.

I love the game as it's great fun which also does me a lot of good. It is not a very physically demanding sport. Thus, it is an uncomplicated way for me to exercise without the risk of overexerting or injuring myself. Engaging in it helps build my focus and capacity for quick decision-making. After all, it's common to lose a match because of a momentary lapse in attention.

As I said, playing badminton is one of my fondest memories from childhood. Aside from bringing me closer to my family, it was also a good way to stay healthy and a great learning opportunity. Even now, the sight of a badminton court reminds me of those brilliant moments and the joy I had.

中文思路:

<mark>羽毛球是我小时候非常喜欢的 game 之一。因为我爸爸和妈妈是疯狂的羽毛球迷。</mark>所以在我很小的时候, 他们就教我打羽毛球。

<mark>羽毛球是一项在中国很受欢迎的运动。</mark>在我上初中的时候,我就认识了好几个同样喜欢打羽毛球的同学。 每天下午一放学,我就会带上自己的球拍冲去我家附近的一个免费的羽毛球场打球。我喜欢和他们打羽 毛球,偶尔也和我的父母打。对我们来说,这是一次很好的增进感情的活动。

<mark>我喜欢羽毛球这个游戏,因为我认为这是一件非常快乐和有益的活动。同时,羽毛球也不是一项对身体</mark> 要求很高的运动。这意味着这是一个更简单的方式让我运动起来,同时没有过度劳累自己的风险。</mark>这款 游戏还帮助我提高了注意力和决策能力,因为瞬间的决定对取得成功至关重要。

总之,在我年轻的时候打羽毛球是一段非常愉快的经历。它拉近了我和家人的距离,为我提供了锻炼身体的健康途径,并给我灌输了宝贵的人生经验。即使是现在,每当我看到一个羽毛球场地,它就会让我想起那些珍贵的时刻,以及我在这场精彩的比赛中所感受到的快乐。

# (四) 自媒体博主

## 25-26: 成功的经营者(新题)& 成功的同学(新题)

Describe a person you know about who runs a	Describe someone you studied with who is successful
successful business.	in his/her life.
You should say:	You should say:
How do you know about this person	who this person is
What kind of business does he/she run	where you studied together
How long has the business been running	when you studied together
And explain why you think his/her business is	and explain why you think this person is successful
successful.	in his/her life.

#### 《成功的经营者》

I feel that I have to talk about my friend Arya, who is an interesting and smart person. The reason I find her so smart is that she does not toe the line - she always has some novel ideas and puts them into action. She is one of my classmates who lives next to my dorm. I've known her ever since we started school. She is a cheerful girl who always actively greets me when we meet in the corridor. We see each other every day since we often take classes together. Copyright by Anxiaoya.

She began to become a web-media blogger last year, posting many English learning videos on Bibili.com. She takes English phrases from movies and TV shows and explains to everyone in which situations to use them in order to sound more like native speakers. She also presents English interviews with random passers-by on some hot button issues

Over the past year, Arya has amassed an impressive ten thousand followers, and her video views have been steadily increasing. While we are still unsure of our future plans, she has already forged her own successful career.

Arya's success can be attributed to her cheerful personality and excellent communication skills. These qualities make her videos highly engaging and appealing to viewers. The likes and support from internet users have further fueled her passion for her small business. She dedicates her free time on weekends to self-learning English and consistently releases new videos. I consider Arya to be one of the most outstanding and talented individuals among my peers, and she is a very successful entrepreneur.

#### 中文思路:

我必须要谈谈我的同班同学 Arya,<mark>她是个非常聪明的人。</mark>她从不循规蹈矩,时常有一些新奇的想法,并 且会马上付诸行动。Arya 住在我的隔壁宿舍,刚开学的时候我就认识她了。她很开朗,每次在楼道遇见, 他都会主动给我打招呼。我们经常一起上课,所以每天都会见面。

她去年开始成为一个自媒体博主,在B站上发布了很多英语学习视频。Arya 会截取电影中的英文短语, 通过短视频的方式,告诉大家某种情境下说什么才更加地道。同时她也会随机采访一些路人,问一些热 点问题,做成英文 vlog。

<mark>一年多的时间里,Arya</mark> 已经积累了一万多的粉丝,视频的播放量也在不断地增长。在我们还在为未来的 方向迷茫的时候,她就已经拥有了自己的事业。 Arya之所以会成功,离不开她开朗的个性和优秀的表达能力。这让她的视频变得非常有趣和吸引人。网 友的点赞和支持,让她愈发地热衷于她的小事业。她利用周末的空闲时间来自学英语,不断地发布新视 频。我觉得 Arya 是我众多同学中最出色最有才华的一位,也是一个非常成功的经营者。

#### 《成功的同学》

I feel that I have to talk about my friend Arya, who is an interesting and smart person. The reason I find her so smart is that she does not toe the line - she always has some novel ideas and puts them into action. She is one of my classmates who lives next to my dorm. I've known her ever since we started school. She is a cheerful girl who always actively greets me when we meet in the corridor. We see each other every day since we often take classes together.

She began to become a web-media blogger last year, posting many English learning videos on Bibili.com. She takes English phrases from movies and TV shows and explains to everyone in which situations to use them in order to sound more like native speakers. She also presents English interviews with random passers-by on some hot button issues

Over the past year, Arya has amassed an impressive ten thousand followers, and her video views have been steadily increasing. I must admit that her success has inspired me to consider pursuing a career in personal media. I frequently seek her advice on video shooting and editing techniques, and she is always generous in sharing her knowledge with me. We often collaborate in our dormitory to figure out how to create better videos together.

While we are still unsure of our future plans, she has already forged her own successful career. Arya's success can be attributed to her cheerful personality and excellent communication skills. These qualities make her videos highly engaging and appealing to viewers. I consider Arya to be one of the most outstanding and talented individuals among my peers.

我必须要谈谈我的同班同学 Arya,她是个非常聪明的人。<mark>她从不循规蹈矩,时常有一些新奇的想法,并</mark> 且会马上付诸行动。Arya 住在我的隔壁宿舍,刚开学的时候我就认识她了。她很开朗,每次在楼道遇见, 他都会主动给我打招呼。我们经常一起上课,所以每天都会见面。

她去年开始成为一个自媒体博主,在B站上发布了很多英语学习视频。Arya 会截取电影中的英文短语, 通过短视频的方式,告诉大家某种情境下说什么才更加地道。同时她也会随机采访一些路人,问一些热 点问题,做成英文 vlog。

<mark>Arya 已经积累了一万多的粉丝, 视频的播放量也在不断地增长。</mark>不得不承认她的成功让我产生了做自媒 体的想法。我经常向他请教一些视频拍摄和剪辑的技巧, 她也从不吝啬把自己的知识分享给我。我们经 常一起在宿舍研究怎么做出更好的视频。

在我们还在为未来的方向迷茫的时候,她就已经拥有了自己的事业。Arya之所以会成功,离不开她开朗 的个性和优秀的表达能力。这让她的视频变得非常有趣和吸引人。我觉得 Arya 是我众多同学中最出色 最有才华的一位。

## 27: 感兴趣的工作

Describe a job you think would be interesting to do. You should say: What it is What skills are necessary to do the job When you first knew this job And explain why you think this job would be interesting to do.

Recently, I've come across a job that really interests me, which is an English education influencer.

I frequently browse the website BiliBili.com. It is a massive and well-known website in our country. I follow several English education influencers on BiliBili.com and regularly watch their short videos. These videos are so cool, and if I could become someone like them in the future, I would be really proud of myself.

The sort of colloquial English shared by these influencers is usually something one cannot learn through textbooks alone. For example, some videos will take English phrases from movies and TV shows and explain to everyone in which situations to use them in order to sound more like native speakers. So, they have to watch lots of English films in advance. Another sort of video will present English interviews with random passers-by on some hot button issues, which means shooting and editing videos are essential skills for a good influencer.

Being an English blogger is an intriguing profession. I've heard that video bloggers with high view counts can get paid by various video platforms. To me, this seems like a great way to make some extra money on the weekends by creating and publishing videos. Plus, if my videos can help readers or get their positive feedback, I would find that to be very rewarding!

中文思路:

最近一段时间,我发现了一份非常让我感兴趣的工作,那就是成为一名英语学习博主。

我经常使用的一个网站是 B 站。B 站是一个非常大的,非常著名的视频网站。我关注了几个著名的教英 语的网红博主,我基本上每周都会登录这个网站看她们的短视频。这些视频非常酷,如果未来我也能成 为像他们一样的人,那我会非常为自己骄傲。

B站上博主们分享的英语知识通常是我在书本上学不到的。比如有些博主会截取很多电影中的英文短语, 告诉大家某种情境下说什么才更加地道。他们必须非常了解外国电影。除此之外,视频还会随机采访一 些路人,问一些热点问题。做成英文 vlog。因此,拍摄和剪辑视频也是成为一名博主的必备技能。

英文博主是一项有趣的职业。据我所知,各个视频平台会给予浏览量大的视频博主报酬。这对我来说是 一个不错的副业,因为我可以利用周末的空闲时间来制作和发布视频。另外,如果我的视频能帮助到读 者或者收到他们积极的赞扬,我也会非常开心的!

# (五) 网红潇潇

## 28-29: 中文很好的外国人 (新题) & 想了解的有趣陌生人 (新题)

Describe a person from another culture who speaks	Describe an interesting person who you have never
Chinese very well.	met, but would like to know more about.
You should say:	You should say:
who he/she	who this person is
which country does he/she come from	how you heard about this person
how he/she learned your language	what interesting things he/she has done
and explain why you think this person speaks Chinese	and explain why you'd like to know more about this
so well.	person.

Now, over on TikTok, there's this foreign girl I follow. Her name's XiaoXiaoGaby, and she speaks Chinese like a pro. She's a total foreigner and pretty easy on the eyes. She's got over two million followers on TikTok and is kinda a big deal on the internet. I first saw her on a TV show, and I was blown away by how fluent her Chinese was. I remember she's from some tiny country in Eastern Europe, though the name escapes me right now.

She graduated from college and came to China. At first, she could only communicate with hand signals or translation apps. But later, she made Chinese friends and picked up Chinese by listening to them and copying their speech. There's this funny twist to the story: all her friends spoke the Chongqing dialect, so she ended up learning that instead of standard Mandarin. It took her two whole years in China to realize she was speaking the Chongqing dialect! Then, she started learning standard Mandarin from scratch and watched tons of Chinese movies and TV shows. In about a year and a half, she got pretty fluent in Mandarin Chinese as well.

Her Chinese is seriously impressive. If you just heard her, you'd think she was born and raised here. I think she's got some incredible language talent because not every foreigner in China can speak as smoothly as she does! Although I have never met her in person, my knowledge of her is limited to her social media. Nonetheless, I really like her, and I hope to learn more about her.

中文思路:

我在抖音上关注了一个会说中文的外国女生,她的名字叫潇潇。她是个地地道道的外国人,长得很好看。 她在抖音里有两百多万的粉丝,是一个小有名气的网红。我第一次认识她是在一档综艺节目上,一口流 利的中文让我非常吃惊。我记得她是来自东欧一个非常小的国家,但我已经不记得是具体名字了。

她大学毕业就来到了中国,刚开始,她和人沟通只能用手比划或者用翻译软件,后来交了中国朋友,开 始学他们说话,靠耳朵听再自己模仿出来。这个过程中一个有趣的"误解"诞生了,她认识的朋友们都 说重庆话,所以她跟着模仿学习,也学的是重庆话。她到中国两年,我才知道自己学的是重庆话,而不 是普通话。

潇潇的中文讲得非常好,只听声音的话我都会认为这是一个地地道道的本地人。我认为她有非常高的语 言天赋,因为不是所有生活在中国的外国人都可以讲得跟她一样好!虽然我从未见过她本人,对她的了 解也仅限于社交平台。但我非常喜欢她,我希望了解她更多。(最后这句话仅用于《想了解的有趣陌生 人》这个话题)

# (六) 电脑售后差

## 30-31: 糟糕服务 (新题) & 电脑出问题 (新题)

Describe a time when you received bad service.	Describe a problem you had when using a computer.
You should say:	You should say:
where and when you received bad service	what it was
who gave you this bad service	when and where you had this problem
what happened	how the problem was solved
and explain how you felt when you received this bad	and explain how you felt when you had this problem.
service.	

I had a really bad experience with customer service after my computer had a major malfunction. This incident occurred a few months ago when I bought a brand-new Lenovo laptop on Pinduoduo. However, scarcely a week after I got it, the keyboard ceased to function entirely. I attempted to reboot it multiple times, yet the keyboard stayed unresponsive.

I was absolutely livid at the time. How could a brand-new computer malfunction so quickly? I even suspected that it might have been a refurbished unit. So, I immediately contacted customer support, hoping they would replace the laptop in a timely manner. But what infuriated me was when customer service called back and told me that because I had used the laptop for a few days, it didn't qualify for the 7-Day Return & Exchange Policy. They could only offer free repairs but couldn't provide a new laptop or a refund.

I was furious because I had taken great care of the laptop, and I hadn't caused any damage to it. It was evident that the computer had a quality issue. So, I continued to file complaints against the seller on the platform and even reported their fraudulent behavior on the 12315 consumer website. Fortunately, a few days later, the platform approved my refund request, and all I had to do was send the laptop back to the seller to get my money back.

This shopping experience left me extremely frustrated, and I shared my story with my friends, advising them not to buy expensive items on Pinduoduo. While the platform offers lower prices, it also seems to come with the risk of quality issues.

我曾经在一次电脑故障后,经历了一次非常糟糕的售后服务(不久前我曾经历过一次电脑故障: I have a problem when using my computer)。这件事发生在几个月前,我在拼多多上购买了一台新的联想笔记本电脑,但在我收到它还不到一周,它的键盘就坏了。我重复开机关机好几次,键盘还是完全失灵。

当时我非常着急,一部全新的电脑怎么会这么轻易坏了。这怀疑这部电脑可能是翻新机。于是我赶紧联系售后客服,试图让他们尽快给我换一台新电脑。但令我生气的是,客服给我回电话说,我已经使用了几天,电脑出现故障不属于7天无理由退换货的规定,只能帮我免费维修,并不能更换一台新机器或者退款。

我当时就气炸了。因为我非常爱惜这部电脑,从未损坏过它。这完完全全就是电脑自身质量有问题。于 是我不断地在平台投诉该商家,还上 12315 消费者网站举报它的欺诈行为。幸运的是,几天后平台通过 了我的退款申请,我只需要把电脑寄回去给商家就能退款。

这次的购物经历让我非常糟心。我把我的经历告诉了身边的朋友,奉劝他们不要在拼多多上购买昂贵的物品。虽然这个网站的价格便宜,但真的容易出现质量问题。

# (七) 高考

## 32-33: 改变人生的时期(新题) & 困难任务(新题)

Describe a time when something happened that	Describe something difficult you did and were proud
changed your life in a good way.	of it in your work or studies.
You should say:	You should say:
what happened	what you had done
when and where it happened	why you did this
how you felt about it	how difficult it was
and explain how this changed your life in a good way.	and explain why you felt so proud of yourself for
	doing it.

《改变人生的时期》

I believe the Gaokao really shapes the lives of many Chinese students, and I'm no exception. I went through the Gaokao in my hometown when I was exactly 18 years old.

In China, your ability to gain admission to a reputable university through the Gaokao exam largely shapes your future prospects, especially considering that blue-collar occupations in China often offer lower salaries. I aspired to secure a high-paying job. The prerequisite for all of this was that I needed to get into a renowned university.

During that time, my family and teachers really piled on the pressure, always reminding me how crucial the Gaokao was. I had to face endless assignments and monthly mock exams every day. To be honest, the immense pressure during that time often caused me to suffer from insomnia. However, what I am grateful for is that I persevered through this tough year and eventually gained admission to a highly renowned university with excellent grades.

Looking back on that year of preparing for the college entrance exams, although I endured a lot of hardship, I honed my determination and gained a clearer understanding of my abilities and potential. During this process, I learned the value of perseverance and self-discipline. Furthermore, I also learned how to manage my time effectively and how to deal with pressure. These valuable experiences will continue to play a role in my future life, making me more mature and confident.

中文思路:

我相信高考改变了中国大部分学生的人生,我也不例外。我是在我的家乡进行高考的,那时候我正好是 18岁。

在我们国家,能不能通过高考考上一个好大学,在很大程度上决定了我今后的人生轨迹。毕竟在中国蓝 领的收入是很低的。我希望找到一个好工作来获得可观的收入。而这一切的前提是我需要考上一个好大 学。

那时候,我的家人和老师们给予了我极大的压力,他们都在不断地告诉我高考有多重要。我每天都要面 对做不完的试卷和每月一次的模拟测验。说实话,那段时间巨大的压力让我经常失眠。但令我庆幸的是, 我熬过了这困难的一年,最终以优秀的成绩考上了一所非常知名的大学。

<mark>现在回头看备战高考的那一年,我虽然吃了很多苦,但在这个过程中我磨练了自己的意志,也对自己的</mark> <mark>能力和潜力有了更清晰的认识。在这个过程中,我学会了坚持不懈和自律。</mark>除此之外,我还学会了合理 规划时间,以及如何应对考试压力。这些宝贵的经验将在我今后的人生中持续发挥作用,使我更加成熟和自信。

#### 《困难任务》

The Gaokao is the biggest challenge I have ever met as a student. In China, your ability to gain admission to a reputable university through the Gaokao exam largely shapes your future prospects, especially considering that blue-collar occupations in China often offer lower salaries. I aspired to secure a high-paying job. The prerequisite for all of this was that I needed to get into a renowned university.

During that time, my family and teachers really piled on the pressure, always reminding me how crucial the Gaokao was. I had to face endless assignments and monthly mock exams every day. To be honest, the immense pressure during that time often caused me to suffer from insomnia. All I could do was to make the most of every day to study while continuously adjusting my mindset.

The Gaokao is not a piece of cake. You should know that in China, over ten million people take the exam every year. Only about the top 2% of students can secure a place in prestigious universities. However, what I am grateful for is that I persevered through this tough year and eventually gained admission to a highly renowned university with excellent grades.

Looking back on that year of preparing for the college entrance exams, although I endured a lot of hardship, I honed my determination and gained a clearer understanding of my abilities and potential. During this process, I learned the value of perseverance and self-discipline. I have done a big thing of which I am very proud!

中文思路:

高考是我学生时期遇到的最大的挑战。

在我们国家,能不能通过高考考上一个好大学,在很大程度上决定了我今后的人生轨迹。毕竟在中国蓝 领的收入是很低的。我希望找到一个好工作来获得可观的收入。而这一切的前提是我需要考上一个好大 学。

<mark>那时候,我的家人和老师们给予了我极大的压力,他们都在不断地告诉我高考有多重要。我每天都要面</mark> <mark>对做不完的试卷和每月一次的模拟测验。说实话,那段时间巨大的压力让我经常失眠。</mark>我能做的就是抓 紧一切时间来学习,同时不断地调节自己的心态。

高考并不是一件容易的事。要知道在中国,每年都有超过一千万人参加考试。大概只有前 2%的人才能 进入传统名校。但令我庆幸的是,我熬过了这困难的一年,最终以优秀的成绩考上了一所非常知名的大 学。

<mark>现在回头看备战高考的那一年,我虽然吃了很多苦,但在这个过程中我磨练了自己的意志,也对自己的</mark> <mark>能力和潜力有了更清晰的认识。在这个过程中,我学会了坚持不懈和自律。</mark>我觉得我做得很棒,我为自 己感到骄傲!

## (八) 苏炳添

#### 34-35: 钦佩的运动员 (新题) & 受欢迎的人

Describe a successful sportsperson that you admire,	Describe a popular person you know.
You should say:	You should say:
who this person is	How you knew this person
what he/she has achieved	Where and when you usually see this person
what you know about his/her life	What type of person he/she is
and explain why you admire this sportsperson.	And explain why you think this person is very
	popular.

The athlete I want to talk about is Su Bingtian. He is the most famous sprinter in our country after Liu Xiang.

Copy right by An xiao ya. The first time I knew him was when Su set an amazing record in the 100-meter race at the Tokyo Olympics. It is the best record which has been achieved by a Chinese person, or member of the Asian race, in any international competitions. I still remember that day when Su attended the 100-meters Olympic Games, my family and I were all cheering for him, even my old grandpa joined in. We should out when he started to run and became insane when he broke the record. What an impressive and memorable moment it was! Nearly all the social media were promoting Su's achievements. Although he did not win the Olympic gold medal, he won the respect and admiration of all Chinese people and even the world.

All I know about him is what I found on internet. He is not tall, only about 1.7 meters, which means his chances are obviously much poorer than that of the other players all over the world. But Su focused on improving his skills and had been training diligently for a decade. Finally, he made great and unbelievable achievements. Su Bingtian deserves our respect for his humble but inspiring history of struggle.

中文思路:

我想说的运动员(我所知道的一个受欢迎的人)就是苏炳添,他是继刘翔之后,我们国家最著名的田径 运动员了。

我第一次知道他是在东京奥运会上,苏取得了令人骄傲的成绩。这是中国人,甚至亚洲人在国际比赛中 取得的最好成绩。我仍然记得苏炳添参加100米比赛的那天,我和我的家人都在为他加油,甚至我爷爷 也加入了。当他打破记录的时候,我们都疯了。这是多么令人印象深刻和难忘的时刻啊!那段时间,几 乎所有的社交媒体都在宣传苏的成就,我每天都能在电视和社交媒体上看到有关他的报道。虽然他没有 赢得奥运金牌,但他赢得了全中国人民甚至全世界的尊敬和钦佩。

我对苏的了解仅限于网上的报道。他身材不高,大概只有1米7,运动天赋明显比人高马大的欧美和非 洲选手差很多。但苏炳添非常专注于提高竞技水平,十年如一日地勤奋训练。终于在大家都不看好的情况下脱颖而出,取得了骄傲的成绩。平凡而又励志的奋斗史是真正令人敬佩的,苏炳添值得我们尊敬(喜爱)。

# (九) 三国演义

## 36-37: 感兴趣的历史时期(新题) & 多次阅读的书籍

Describe a book you have read more than once.	Describe a period in history which you are interested
You should say:	in.
Why you read this book	You should say:
What this book was about	when it was
Whether you learnt anything from it	what happened
And explain why you have read this book more than	how you first heard about it
once.	and explain why you are interested in this period of
	history.

#### 《感兴趣的历史时期》

*The Romance of the Three Kingdoms* is a very famous novel in China. I first read it when I was still in elementary school. Since all its wars and friendships were set in the Three Kingdoms period, it explains my desire to know more about that chapter in history.

The masterpiece captivates readers with its colorful characters and legendary events. I was impressed by the brotherhood among Liu Bei, Guan Yu and Zhang Fei, but even more so by the resourcefulness of Zhuge Liang. As a matter of fact, this literature is the only reason I became interested in its historical setting.

From what I read, the Three Kingdoms period was an era of never-ending conflicts. The nation was divided into three states, Wei, Shu and Wu. They fought with each other constantly until Wei won out and united the country.

The book described in great detail what unfolded on and off the battlefields. As a child, I always thought it was a full and honest account of the past. But I discovered later that the history as the author told it had in fact not been entirely true. Zhuge Liang, for example, was more adept at managing internal affairs than conducting warfare. Also, since the work was written from Shu's perspective, all the personalities of that kingdom were portrayed in a more positive light than they deserved. As a result, I would like to find out the real stories of those days and see the historical figures (Zhuge Liang and Liu Bei included,) as the flesh and blood they were.

中文思路:

<mark>《三国演义》是中国非常著名的一本小说,我在小学的时候就看过这本书。这部小说描述了三国时期的</mark> 战争与友情。因此,三国时期是我想了解更多的一段历史。

我对三国时期产生兴趣完全是因为这本小说,<mark>书里的人物性格和历史事件非常吸引人。刘备关羽张飞三</mark> <mark>人之间真挚的友谊令我感动,诸葛亮的足智多谋更是令我钦佩不已。</mark>

我印象中的三国时期是一个战争连绵的时代。当时天下被分为三部分,魏蜀吴三个国家不断地在打仗。 最后魏国获得胜利,统一了全国。

小时候,我一直以为《三国演义》完整地阐述了历史,因为书里描述的历史事件和战争非常详细。但长 大后我才发现,原来真正的三国时期并不完全跟小说一致。比如诸葛亮其实并不擅长打仗,他更擅长的 是管理内政。同时,这本小说是以蜀国的角度写的,蜀国的人物都是非常积极正面的。但事实上似乎并 非如此。所以我想了解这段时期真正的历史,去了解这些诸葛亮,刘备实际上是怎么样的一个人。
#### 《多次阅读的书籍》

*The Romance of the Three Kingdoms* is a very famous Chinese novel. I first read it when I was still in elementary school. It was my Chinese teacher who recommended it to me. Actually, I have read it a few times since childhood.

The novel is about the wars and alliances of the Three Kingdoms period. The Three Kingdoms period was an era of never-ending conflicts. The nation was divided into three states, Wei, Shu and Wu. They fought with each other constantly until Wei won out and united the country. This novel combines true historical events with the author's imagination. This masterpiece captivates readers with its colorful characters and legendary events. I was impressed by the brotherhood among Liu Bei, Guan Yu and Zhang Fei, but even more so by the resourcefulness of Zhuge Liang.

When I was young, I was intrigued by the plot when reading this novel. I couldn't fully understand it as a child and read it roughly, overlooking a lot of important content. When I read it again after growing up, I discovered many plot points that I didn't notice before or had entirely forgotten. Meanwhile, I was deeply impressed by the narratives and strategies presented in the novel. I believe everyone will have a different understanding when reading a book and one can find new interpretations by reading it multiple times.

中文思路:

《三国演义》是中国非常著名的一本小说。在老师的推荐下,我在小学的时候就看过这本书。事实上, 从小时候算起,我已经看过很多次了

这部小说描述了三国时期的战争与友情。三国时期是一个战争连绵的时代。当时天下被分为三部分,魏 蜀吴三个国家不断地在打仗。最后魏国获得胜利,统一了全国。这本小说里既有真实的历史故事,又加 入了作者的想象。<mark>书里的人物性格和历史事件非常吸引人。刘备关羽张飞三人之间真挚的友谊令我感动,</mark> 诸葛亮的足智多谋更是令我钦佩不已。

小时候,我看这本小说更多的是被故事情节吸引。小孩子的理解能力是有限的,那时候我只是粗略地阅读,忽略了很多重要内容。长大后再次阅读时,我发现了很多之前没关注,或者已经遗忘了的情节。同时,小说里的计谋与策略给我留下了深刻的印象。我认为每个人读书,都会读出不一样的理解。而多次阅读更会产生更多的体会。

## 38: 公开发言的时刻

Describe a time when you had to give a talk to lots of people. You should say: Who you gave this talk to What the talk was about Why you gave this talk And explain how you felt about giving the talk to lots of people.

I vividly recall my Chinese language teacher organizing a special event in high school. Each of us had to take turns giving a five-minute presentation introducing our favorite book to our fellow classmates. Being a shy person, I had never tried public speaking before, so this was a really memorable experience for me.

I spent a long time thinking about what to say. Eventually, I found some ideas while searching online and decided to talk about the novel "Romance of the Three Kingdoms." The history, as the author told it, had in fact not been entirely true. Zhuge Liang, for example, was more adept at managing internal affairs than conducting warfare. Also, since the work was written from Shu's perspective, all the personalities of that kingdom were portrayed in a more positive light than they deserved.

I put in a lot of effort to get my script ready. The night before my presentation, I rehearsed in front of the mirror at home. To my amazement, the presentation went off without a hitch the following day. I was pleasantly surprised to find that speaking in front of a crowd wasn't as intimidating as I had anticipated. All I had to do was present the material I had prepared. Furthermore, my classmates were really engaged in what I had to say. Even though "Romance of the Three Kingdoms" is a renowned Chinese novel, most people don't realize that its plot is made up!

中文思路:

我记得在我高中的时候,我的语文老师组织了一次特别的活动。全班所有同学需要轮流上台演讲五分钟, 内容是向其他同学介绍自己最喜欢的一本书。我是个腼腆的人,从小就没试过公开发言。因此这是一次 印象深刻的经历。淘 宝: 安小 雅。

对于发言内容,我思考了很长一段时间。后来在网上搜索的时候逐渐有了思路。我的演讲内容是关于小 说三国演义的,历史上的三国时期其实并不完全跟小说《三国演义》一致。比如诸葛亮其实并不擅长打 仗,他更擅长的是管理内政。同时,这本小说是以蜀国的角度写的,蜀国的人物都是非常积极正面的。 但事实上并非如此。

我花了好长时间整理我的发言稿。在上台演讲的前一晚,我还在家对着镜子练习。没想到第二天的演讲 出乎意料地顺利。其实在一群人面前演讲并不是一件难事,我只需要把我准备的材料说出来就行。同时, 同学们对我讲的内容也很感兴趣。因为《三国演义》是中国非常著名的一本小说,但是大多数人都不知 道它的情节是虚构的!

# (十) 放烟花

## 39-40: 和小孩相处的时刻 & 印象深刻的儿时经历

Describe a time when you spent some time with a	Describe a happy experience you remember very well
child.	from your childhood.
You should say:	You should say:
Who the child was	How old you were at that time
Why you spent time with this child	Who you were with
When it was	What happened at the time
And explain how you felt about spending time with	And explain why you remember this happy
this child.	experience.

My cousin once burned her own hair when we set off fireworks during a Spring Festival. The memory is still fresh in my mind though it occurred in our childhood days.

She was a few years younger than me and had only just started school back then. On that New Year's Eve, our parents were staying at home and watching the Spring Festival gala after dinner. Meanwhile, my cousin and I headed for a nearby park to set off fireworks. We bought a large pack of fireworks with our lucky money, which contained all types including skyrockets, Catherine wheels, and the most common handheld sparklers.

We walked for a long while and covered a good deal of ground before finally reaching the park. Soon, the place was filled with the crackling of fireworks and our happy laughter. But then, something unexpected happened. As my cousin wore very long hair, it suddenly caught fire when she was lighting firecrackers. The flame spread quickly along her hair, which greatly startled me. Fortunately, the fire went out in a moment without hurting my cousin. We exchanged a surprised glance and then both burst out laughing. The experience stuck in my mind because, out of our childish ignorance, we took it not as a dangerous incident, but as a funny event at the time. Of course, as I grew older, I realized just how dangerous it was and would always take care to avoid similar things from happening when setting off fireworks.

我至今还记得小时候的某个春节,我跟我表妹去放烟花,她一不小心把自己头发烧着了的经历。

我表妹比我小几岁,才刚上小学。那年过年,吃完饭后大人们都在家看春晚,我和我表妹就去附近的公园里放烟花了。我们用压岁钱买了足足一大袋烟花,包括各种不同的品种。有快速飞上天空的烟花,也 有会在地上转圈的。当然还有最常见的拿在手上会持续发光的烟花。

我们走了好长一段路,终于来到了一个空旷的公园。不一会,公园里充满着我们的笑声和烟花的爆炸声。 但令我意外的事情发生了,由于表妹的头发很长,她在点燃爆竹的时候不小心把自己的头发点着了,火 苗顺着她的头发迅速的向上蔓延!这可把我吓了一跳。万幸的是火及时灭了,表妹也没有受伤。之后我 们两个看着彼此,哈哈大笑了起来。这段经历让我印象非常深刻,小时候的我们很天真,不觉得这是一 件危险的事,竟然觉得非常有趣。当然,现在放烟花的时候,我都非常留神,避免类似事情再次发生。

### 41: 喜欢的传统庆祝活动

Describe a traditional celebration you enjoy in your country. You should say: What it is Who you celebrate with What you do in this celebration And explain why you enjoy this traditional celebration.

Fireworks have always been the best part of the Spring Festival for me. It is one of our nation's traditional rituals to celebrate the new year. In ancient times, people believed such activity helped scare away Nian, a legendary monster from folklore. To this day, many still keep the faith that setting off fireworks brings good luck.

I usually set off fireworks with my cousin. She was a few years younger than me, and her family lived just around the block. Normally, Dad would prepare a large pack of fireworks of all sorts before the festival. Then, on New Year's Eve, my cousin and I would set them all off. There happened to be a large park nearby, which was a perfect place for launching fireworks.

It was always a delight to watch fireworks, and I found it to be an exhilarating experience. There are many types of fireworks including skyrockets, Catherine wheels, and common, handheld sparklers. We would usually compete to see who was able to send fireworks higher up into the sky, or who could hold sparklers while taking selfies. The fireworks lit up the night sky with flashes of light in a variety of colors and forms, which was a feast for the eyes.

I love fireworks, not only due to their splendid aesthetics, but also because such rituals make me think about the upcoming new year. Nothing is better than staying with loved ones and lighting off fireworks while celebrating the arrival of a new year.

每年春节,我最喜欢的活动就是放烟花了。放烟花是我们国家春节的传统庆祝活动之一。古时候,中国 人认为放烟花可以驱赶怪兽,到了现在,我们依然相信在春节放烟花可以为自己带来好运。

<mark>我经常和我的表妹一起放烟花。</mark>她们家就住在我家附近,她比我小几岁。一般每年的春节前夕,我爸爸 都会提前买上各式各样的一大袋烟花。到了除夕夜,<mark>我和我表妹就会去附近的公园放烟花。公园很空旷,</mark> 非常适合放烟花。

放烟花是一种令人兴奋的,非常具有观赏性的活动。烟花有非常多的种类,有快速飞上天空的烟花,也 有会在地上转圈的。当然最常见的还是拿在手上会持续发光的烟花。</mark>我们常常会比谁的烟花飞的最高, 也会拿着手持烟花一起拍照留念。烟花绽放时会发出五颜六色的光,还会形成不同形状的图案,非常非 常好看。

我喜欢放烟花,不单单是因为烟花很好看,更是因为烟花这种传统的庆祝活动会提醒我新年将要来临了。 没有什么比和最亲近的家人在一起放烟花,并且一起期待新年来临更浪漫的事了。

# (十一)零食店

## 42-43: 新开的商店 & 人山人海之地

Describe a new shop that has opened in your city.	Describe a time when you went to a place where there
You should say:	were a lot of people.
Where it is	You should say:
What it sells	Who you went to this place with
Who goes shopping there	What was happening in this place
And explain how successful you think this new shop	Why there were so many people there
will be.	And explain how you felt about being in a place with
	so many people.

#### 《新开的商店》

Recently, my roommate Anna and I went for a weekend stroll. Along the way, I spotted a new snack shop that had opened up on the high street near our school. It's called "Busy Snacks", and as the name suggests, it sells all kinds of snacks, including nuts, candies, drinks, and chips. It's situated right on the main drag for students heading to and from classes, between the academic building and the living area. It's a new shop, but it's already become a hit with the student crowd - they come here to pick up whatever they need.

I would bet almost all college students love snacking, especially the ladies. I know I can't live without my cola and potato chips. This new snack shop in our university town is gonna be a hit, I can feel it! They're offering some awesome opening promotions, so it's definitely worth checking out. I've been there a few times already and it's always packed with people. I really like it because they have a huge selection of snacks, including some of the trendier ones that are hard to find elsewhere. Plus, the prices are really cheap - I can get a big bag of snacks for just a few bucks. It's a great option for students because of the affordable prices and convenient location.

中文思路:

不久前的一个周末,我和舍友 anna 出门闲逛,我发现我们学校附近的商业街新开了一家零食超市。这 家店叫零食很忙,顾名思义,它出售各种各样的零食,包括坚果,糖果,饮料和膨化食品。</mark>它位于教学 楼和生活区中间的商业街上,这是学生们上下课的必经之路。因此在这买东西的主要是周围的学生。<mark>虽</mark> 然这家店铺刚刚开业,显然它在学生中很受欢迎。

几乎所有的大学生都很爱吃零食,尤其是女生。对我来说,可乐和薯片是生活中不可或缺的物品。我已 经可以预料到这家店会非常成功,因为它是我们大学城第一家大型的零食商店,最近还在搞开业的优惠 活动。我已经去那里买了好几次东西了,每次都人山人海。我很喜欢这家商店,因为它的的零食种类非 常多,一些难买的网红零食我都能在那找到。更重要的是和普通超市相比,这里的零食很便宜。我只需 要花几十块钱就可以买满满一大袋零食。实惠的价格和便利的地理位置使它成为学生的一个有吸引力的 选择。

#### 《人山人海之地》

Recently, my roommate Anna and I went for a weekend stroll. Along the way, I spotted a new snack shop that had opened up on the high street near our school. The store was having a grand opening sale where we could get a bottle of Starbucks coffee for just one buck extra with any purchase. We were immediately drawn to this offer and decided to check it out.

The store is called "Busy Snacks", and as the name suggests, it sells all kinds of snacks, including nuts, candies, drinks, and chips. It has a huge selection of snacks, including some of the trendier ones that are hard to find elsewhere. Plus, the prices are really cheap - I can get a big bag of snacks for just a few bucks. Though it is a new shop, there is a sea of people in it. Apparently, it's already become a hit with the student crowd

On the day it opened, it was packed! Students were queuing up outside the door, making us wait much longer than anticipated. I wished I hadn't come on the opening day, since the promotions were going to last for a week. Inside the store, it was so crowded that it was hard to move around. We managed to get some of our favorite snacks, but the shopping experience was really awful.

中文思路:

不久前的一个周末,我和舍友 anna 出门闲逛,我发现我们学校附近的商业街新开了一家零食超市。那 天这家店铺正在做开业的优惠活动,任意消费后再加一块钱就可以买到一瓶星巴克的咖啡。我们立刻就 被这个活动吸引了。

这家店叫零食很忙,顾名思义,它出售各种各样的零食,包括坚果,糖果,饮料和膨化食品。它的零食 种类非常多,一些难买的网红零食我都能在那找到。更重要的是和普通超市相比,这里的零食很便宜。 我我 Anna 花了几十块钱就买了满满一大袋零食。虽然这家店铺刚刚开业,但此刻里面人山人海。<mark>显然</mark> 它在学生中很受欢迎。

它开业那天实在是太火爆了。来蹭优惠活动的同学在门口大排长队,以至于我们花费了远超我们预计的 时间。我感觉我完全没必要在它开业的第一天来买,开业的优惠活动将会持续一周。如此多的顾客让我 们在商店里寸步难行。虽然我们买到了心仪的零食,但此次购物体验是非常糟糕的。

# (十二)存钱买AJ

## 44-45: 昂贵的礼物 & 喜欢穿的衣服

Describe an expensive gift you would like to give to	Describe a piece of clothing that you enjoy wearing
someone.	most.
You should say:	You should say:
What gift you would like to buy	What it looks like
Who you would like to give it to	How often you wear it
How long it would take to save the money	When and where you got it
And explain why you would like to give this	and explain why you enjoy wearing this piece of
expensive gift to this person.	clothing so much.

#### 《昂贵的礼物》

So, my boyfriend is this huge sneakerhead, and he loves collecting all kinds of sneakers. Lately, AJ sneakers have become a symbol of fashion, and owning a unique pair of AJ sneakers is what most guys are chasing after. If I had enough money, I would love to surprise him with a limited-edition pair of AJ sneakers.

But, let's be real, they're usually quite expensive, ranging from 1,000 to 2,000 yuan. As a student, I don't have a lot of disposable income every month, so I think I'll have to save up for two to three months before I can afford a pair of AJ sneakers for him. Maybe I'll wait for the end-of-year sale and buy them online for him then.

You know, I've noticed that my boyfriend has always been a fan of the AJ series of sneakers. He's been wearing a pair of AJ's for a while now, but they're getting pretty worn out. I remember one time I saw him put a certain pair of shoes in his Taobao shopping cart, but he didn't end up buying them. I'm pretty sure those were the ones he really liked. They're black and red, with a big Nike swoosh on the side and a Jordan logo on the back, which is the trademark of the AJ sneakers. I think they look super cool and totally on-trend.

I'm so lucky to have a boyfriend who's always so thoughtful and treats me so well, even getting me gifts on special occasions. So, I'm excited to save up some money for a few months and surprise him with these shoes on his birthday. I'm sure he'll be over the moon when he gets this present!

中文思路:

我的男朋友是个狂热的球鞋爱好者,他喜欢收藏各种各样的球鞋。最近几年来,AJ 球鞋成为了时尚的 象征。拥有一双与众不同的 AJ 球鞋是大多数男孩的追求。</mark>如果我有足够的钱,我希望能送他一双限量 版的 aj 球鞋。

但 AJ 球鞋通常都比较昂贵,基本上都得一千到两千元。我还是学生,每个月生活费不多。我觉得我需要存两到三个月的钱才能买一双 AJ。我可能会选择在年底打折的时候在网上给他买一双。

我知道他<mark>一直都喜欢 AJ 系列的球鞋。他现在穿的就是一双 AJ,但已经穿很久了。有一次我看见他把某</mark> 双鞋放入了淘宝的购物车里,但没买。</mark>我相信这就是他喜欢的那一双。<mark>这双鞋是黑红配色,鞋的侧面有</mark> 一个大大的对勾,鞋的后侧还有一个乔丹的头像,这是 AJ 球鞋的标志。我觉得这双鞋很好看,非常潮。

男朋友平时很照顾我的感受,对我很好,逢年过节也会送礼物给我。所以我很乐意存几个月的钱,在他 生日时给给她一个惊喜。我相信他收到这个礼物时一定会很开心的。

#### 《喜欢穿的衣服》

My new AJ sneaker are my favorite piece of clothing. They're black and red, with a big Nike swoosh on the side and a Jordan logo on the back, which is the trademark of the AJ sneakers. I think they look super cool and totally on-trend.

They are a birthday gift from my boyfriend this year. Apparently, he knows I have always been a fan of the AJ series of sneakers. I have been wearing a pair of AJ's for the past couple years, but they're getting pretty worn out. I remember one time he saw me put a certain pair of shoes in my Taobao shopping cart, but I didn't end up buying them. To my surprise, I received them as a gift on my birthday this year.

I wear them almost half the week because they not only look great but also go well with my outfits. Plus, I always wear them every time I go on dates with my boyfriend.

I am a huge sneakerhead and loves collecting all kinds of sneakers. Lately, AJ sneakers have become a symbol of fashion, and I have been chasing after a unique pair of my own. I really love these sneakers in particular because they are a very rare limited edition. What's even more important is that they were a gift from my boyfriend.

中文思路:

谈到我最喜欢的衣服,我想一定是我的新 aj 球鞋。<mark>这双鞋是黑红配色,鞋的侧面有一个大大的对勾,鞋</mark> <mark>的后侧还有一个乔丹的头像,这是 AJ 球鞋的标志。我觉得这双鞋很好看,非常潮。</mark>

这双鞋是我男朋友去年送给我的生日礼物,<mark>他知道我一直都喜欢 AJ 系列的球鞋。我现在穿的就是一双</mark> AJ,但已经穿很久了。有一次他看见我把某双鞋放入了淘宝的购物车里,但没买。</mark>结果我在生日的时候 就收到了这份礼物,这绝对是一个巨大的惊喜。

我每周几乎有一半的时间都会穿这双鞋,因为它不仅好看,而且很好搭配衣服。除此之外,每次和男朋 友约会的时候也会穿它。

我是个狂热的球鞋爱好者,我喜欢收藏各种各样的球鞋。最近几年来,AJ球鞋成为了时尚的象征。拥有 一双与众不同的 AJ球鞋是我的追求。我非常喜欢这双球鞋,因为它是限量版的非常稀有。更重要的是, 这双鞋是我男朋友送给我的,和其他的球鞋相比,它对我来说是十分特别的。

## (十三) 智能家居

### 46-47: 有用的发明 & 理想之家

Describe an invention which is very useful in your	Describe your idea of a perfect house.
daily life.	You should say:
You should say:	Where it would be
What it is	What it would be like
What you use it for	How special it would be
Is it easy to use	And explain why it would be perfect for you.
And explain why it is very useful in your daily life.	

#### 《有用的发明》

I think smart home systems are one of the most useful inventions out there. They've totally changed the way we live our lives. Basically, it's like having all the switches for your household appliances in one app. You can set them to turn on or off at certain times, which is really handy. It might not sound like much, but trust me, it's a game-changer!

A year ago, we installed a whole-house smart system in our home. It was really easy to set up and now when I come home and open the door, all the lights and curtains turn on automatically. The air conditioner is also connected to the system, so the temperature is always comfortable and cool, adjusting based on sunrise and sunset, as well as real-time temperature. I can also use voice commands to turn on the TV or start the robot vacuum. The door lock is smart too, so I can open the door with the app on my phone without needing keys.

I totally agree that smart home systems are an awesome and practical invention. They make my life so much easier, allowing me to control most of my household appliances with just my voice or phone while I'm still in bed. It's so user-friendly, especially for us lazy people. Technology really does change our lives!

我觉得智能家居系统是日常生活中最有用的发明之一,它让我们的生活方式发生了极大改变。智能家居 系统其实就是把家里所有电器的开关集合到一个 APP 中。人们可以通过设置,让特定的电器在特定时 间开启或者关闭。我知道这听起来平平无奇,但事实上它非常好用!

一年前,我们家就安装了全屋的智能系统。它使用起来非常容易,只需要在安装时设定好相应的程序。 在我回家开门的那一刻,家里的灯和窗帘全都会自动开启。同时家里永远是温度适宜的,凉快的。因为 空调也接入了智能系统,会自动根据日出日落,实时气温来调节家里的温度。另外,我可以通过语言指 令打开电视或者启动扫地机器人等等。同时门锁也是智能的。我可以通过手机上的 APP 打开家门,再 也不需要携带钥匙了。

我认为智能家居系统是一项伟大且实用的发明,因为它让我的生活变得更便利了。<mark>我只需躺在床上,就</mark> <mark>可以通过声音或手机操控家里的大部分家电。这对懒人来说实在是太友好了,真是科技改变生活!</mark>

#### 《理想之家》

So, the house that I have in mind is a large flat located in the city. I don't want it to be in the city center because that area is just too crowded. However, I do want it to have good options for public transport and plenty of commercial amenities nearby.

I really love big flats because they look so modern and stylish compared to house shares.-My flat would need to have plenty of space so I can fit all my stuff. Of course, big windows and good natural lighting are a must, because sunshine just makes me feel so relaxed and happy. Moreover, there should be-a whole-house smart system installed in my home. When I come home and open the door, I want all the lights and curtains turn on automatically. The air conditioner would be connected to the system as well, so that the temperature is always comfortable and cool, adjusting based on sunrise and sunset, as well as real-time temperature. I would also like to be able to use voice commands to turn on the TV or start the robot vacuum. A smart lock on the door would also be great, so that I can open the door with the app on my phone without needing keys.

I believe most young people would appreciate this sort of modern home design. Living in such a house, I would be able to control most of my household appliances with just my voice or phone while I'm still in bed. It's so user-friendly, especially for us lazy people. Technology really does change our lives!

中文思路:

我心目中理想的房子,应该是位于市区的一套大平层。它最好不要在市中心,是因那里实在是太拥挤了。 但我希望它交通方便,周边最好有完善的商业设施。

我喜欢大平层,是因为比起别墅,它看起来更现代也更时尚。它的面积要足够大,这样我就有足够的空间摆放任何我喜欢的东西。我希望这套房子有很大的窗户和良好的采光,阳光会让我感到心情舒畅。其次,它应该安装了全屋的智能系统。在我回家开门的那一刻,家里的灯和窗帘全都会自动开启。同时家里永远是温度适宜的,凉快的。因为空调也接入了智能系统,会自动根据日出日落,实时气温来调节家里的温度。另外,我可以通过语言指令打开电视或者启动扫地机器人等等。同时门锁也是智能的。我可以通过手机上的 APP 打开家门,再也不需要携带钥匙了。

我想没有年轻人会不喜欢这样现代化的房屋。如果我住在里面,<mark>我只需躺在床上,就可以通过声音或手</mark> <mark>机操控家里的大部分家电。这对懒人来说实在是太友好了,真是科技改变生活!</mark>

## 单独话题

### 48: 重要规定(新题)

Describe a rule at work or school that you think is important. You should say: what it is how you knew this rule what happens if people break it and explain why you think this rule at work/school is important.

In school, one of the most important rules is being punctual and not arriving late for class. This rule is quite straightforward, requiring students to be in the classroom on time before each lesson begins.

Back when I was in elementary school, the teachers emphasized this rule right from the first day of school. Additionally, the school would provide students with a handbook that contained various school rules and regulations, including the one about punctuality.

If a student were to break this rule, there were usually consequences. These consequences could range from losing points to having to stand as a form of punishment, or even providing on-campus services. In more severe cases, students might find themselves sent to the teacher's office for further action. Furthermore, frequent lateness could also impact a student's academic performance because they'd miss out on important class content and discussions, potentially leading to lower exam scores.

I believe the rule of being punctual for class is of utmost importance in a school environment. Firstly, it teaches students the value of time management, a crucial skill for their future endeavors in work and life. The repercussions for being late in a professional setting can be far more severe. Secondly, this rule helps maintain order in the classroom, ensuring that every student can benefit from a structured learning environment. To sum it up, the rule against being late for class plays a vital role in school, and I consider it to be a fundamental aspect of education. Copyright by Anxiaoya.

我认为学校中一项非常重要的规定是不能迟到上课。这一规定非常简单明了,要求学生在每堂课的开始 时间之前必须准时到达教室。

在我还是个小学生的时候,开学第一天老师就强调了这项规定。此外,学校还会发布学生手册,其中包含了学校的各种规章制度,包括不能迟到的规定。

如果学生违反了这个规定,通常会有一些惩罚措施。这些惩罚可以包括扣分、罚站、接受校内服务等等, 在严重情况下,也可能被送到老师办公室接受进一步处理。此外,经常迟到也会影响学生的学术表现, 因为他们错过了课程的重要内容和讨论,这可能会导致他们在考试中表现不佳。

我认为上课不能迟到的规定在学校非常重要,首先,它告诉了学生时间管理的重要性。这对于未来的工 作和生活都非常重要。在工作中迟到后果通常会严重的的多。其次,这个规定有助于维护课堂纪律,确 保每个学生都能享受一个有秩序的学习环境。总之,不能迟到上课的规定在学校中扮演着重要的角色, 我认为这个规定在学校中是至关重要的。

## 49: 有益的广告(新题)

Describe an advertisement you have seen that you think is good. You should say: what it is for what it shows when and where you saw it and explain why you think it is a piece of good advertisement.

I once came across a really impressive ad that was designed to showcase the fast charging capability of OPPO smartphones. This ad effectively highlighted what makes OPPO phones unique, and it left a deep impression on me.

The first time I saw this ad was on TV, and later, I saw it several times on social media and online video platforms. In the ad, there was a person using an OPPO phone to play games while the battery was draining quickly. Suddenly, he plugged in the phone charger, and the focus of the ad shifted to the phone's charging port. Then, a countdown timer appeared on the screen, showing that in just a short 5 minutes, the phone's battery level had significantly increased. After that, the person made a video call using the phone, and the ad revealed that with just 5 minutes of charging, the phone could support a 2-hour call. This made it crystal clear to the viewers how fast OPPO phones can charge.

What made this ad stand out, in my opinion, was its use of very clear scenarios and a vivid demonstration of the fast charging feature of OPPO phones through the comparison of countdown times and call duration. You didn't need to dig into technical details to grasp its advantages. The ad was concise, creative, and it grabbed the audience's attention, leaving a lasting, profound impression.

中文思路:

我曾经看过一则非常出色的广告,它是为了展示 OPPO 手机的快充功能而制作的。这则广告深刻地展示了 OPPO 手机的独特卖点,给我留下了深刻的印象。

我第一次看到这则广告是在电视上,后来也在社交媒体平台和在线视频网站上多次看到。广告中,一个 人在用 OPPO 手机玩游戏的同时,手机的电池电量却迅速下降。突然,他连接了手机充电器,广告的重 点瞬间集中在了手机的充电接口上。然后,一个倒计时的数字出现在屏幕上,只需短短 5 分钟,手机的 电量迅速增加。接着,这个人用手机拨通了视频通话,广告显示手机仅充电 5 分钟,却能够通话长达 2 小时。让观众一目了然地明白了 OPPO 手机充电究竟有多快。

我认为这则广告之所以出色,是因为它采用了非常清晰的场景,通过倒计时数字和通话时间的对比,生 动地演示了 OPPO 手机的快充功能。观众不需要深入了解技术细节,就能明白它的优势。广告创意简洁 而富有创意,吸引了观众的注意力,让人印象深刻。

### 50: 感兴趣的科学领域(新题)

Describe an area of science that you are interested in You should say: what it is when and where you first heard about it how you get more information about it now and explain why you are interested in this area of science.

I'm keenly intrigued by the field of chemistry. In simple terms, chemistry is the study of how elements interact with each other. As it turns out, the application of chemistry in a professional setting is actually more complicated than I assumed, and that's why I find it intriguing.

My first introduction to chemistry was in junior high school chemistry class. I remember that I was fascinated by all the fantastic reactions of the experiments we would conduct in class. I also remember learning about the Periodic Table of Elements, which brought me a deeper insight into the connections between the elements and their properties.

Unfortunately, my own job is in a different field entirely. I can only keep abreast of developments in chemistry by following some relevant websites and social media accounts in my free time to get updates and posts from professional chemists and fellow chemistry enthusiasts. Besides this, I also buy chemistry related books and magazines.

Frankly speaking, I'm fascinated by chemistry because it's a creative discipline. The study of chemistry has equipped mankind with the basic knowledge needed to develop new things, such as researching new drugs. With chemistry, we can cure some of the world's most dreaded diseases. I believe that I am capable of learning the basic fundamentals of chemistry and can then apply this knowledge to my daily life. Thus, I will be able to analyze issues by applying the scientific method. In this way, my capacity to recognize scientific phenomena in the world around me can be improved. Anyway, this is exactly why I am so keen on this field.

中文思路:

我对化学领域充满浓厚的兴趣。简单地说,化学是研究元素如何相互作用的学科。但事实上真正专业的 化学要比我想象中复杂得多,这也正是我觉得有趣的地方。淘宝:安小雅

我第一次了解化学是在初中化学课上。我记得那时我对化学中各种神奇的反应和实验感到非常着迷。我 还记得自己学习了元素周期表,它让我对元素之间的联系和性质有了更深入的理解。

如今,我的工作与化学并不相关。我只能在空闲时间关注一些相关的网站和社交媒体账号,获取来自专业人事和化学爱好者的更新和分享。此外,我也会购买一些书籍和杂志。

我对化学感兴趣的原因是因为它是一门充满创造性的学科。化学研究给人类提供了开发新事物所需的基本知识,比如研究新药。有了化学,我们可以治愈一些世界上最可怕的疾病。我相信通过深入了解化学,我可以了解与日常生活密切相关的基本常识和现象,运用科学的方法分析问题,从而提高对事物的认识能力。这正是我对这一领域充满热情的原因。

## 51: 最近令你失望的电影

Describe a film you saw recently that you found disappointing. You should say: What kind of film it was What it was about Why you decided to watch this film And explain why you found this film disappointing.

I recently watched a romance movie called "Love After Love" on iQiyi. It's based on a novel by Eileen Chang, but I have to say I was disappointed.

The movie tells the story of Ge Weilong, a female student studying in Hong Kong who has nowhere to turn but to her aunt Mrs. Leung. As time passes, she finds herself drawn to the luxurious lifestyle and develops an unrequited love for a man. In order to support him, she sells herself, only to be cruelly abandoned in the end.

I'm a huge fan of Eileen Chang, and I love the original novel, so when I saw the stunning trailer, I was really excited to watch the movie! But after watching it, I was really let down. The plot was so disjointed and nonsensical that I couldn't concentrate on it, so I just ended up fiddling with my phone instead.

Moreover, the chemistry between the two leads felt unnatural and unconvincing. They seemed to be just going through the motions, without any real emotional bond. The director was trying to create an artistic vibe, but it didn't quite work.

Overall, "Love After Love" did not meet my expectations. Although I appreciate the director of this movie, I have to admit that it's really a bad film.

中文思路:

最近,我在爱奇艺网站上看了一部名为《第一炉香》的爱情电影,这部电影改编自著名作家张爱玲的同 名小说。不幸的是,我觉得它很令人失望。

这部电影讲述的是女学生葛薇龙求学香港,无处可去只能投靠姑母梁太太。后来她渐渐喜欢上了奢靡的 生活,还爱上了一个不爱自己的男人,出卖自己去养他,最终却遭到了无情的抛弃。

我决定看这部电影,因为我是作家张爱玲的超级粉丝。我喜欢第一炉香的原著小说。这部电影的预告片 也拍的非常唯美和吸引人。然而,看完之后,我感到很失望。它给人的感觉非常混乱和没有逻辑。我在 看电影的时候,一直忍不住在玩手机,电影的剧情完全没办法吸引我。

此外,两位主角之间的化学反应感觉是被迫的,难以令人信服。他们似乎是在走过场,他们之间没有真 正的情感联系。导演似乎是想拍出一种文艺的氛围,然而这种尝试是失败的。

总的来说,《第一炉香》并没有达到我的期望。虽然我很欣赏这部电影的导演,但是不得不承认这真的 是一部烂片。